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Foreword and Executive Summary 
 
Introduction  
 
As much as two thirds of financial resources available on capital markets in the developed 
world come from insurance and pension funds. Those are at the same time the longest term 
assets in the national economy, with the usual maturity over 10 years.  
 
The importance of those assets is increasing also in Slovenia, although it may take quite a 
while to attain the EU share in GDP (over 50 %), where, e.g., pension funds alone represent 
over 30 % of GDP. It is expected that pension funds in Slovenia will stand at approx. SIT 600 
billion in this year, which is a good 10 % of the Slovenian GDP. Their annual growth rate is 
approx. 20 % or SIT 70 – 100 billion. 
 
Unfortunately, due to its underdevelopment, the Slovenian market of long-term investment-
credit instruments (various bonds, including mortgage and other guarantee instruments) has 
insufficient capacity to absorb these annual increases in valuable long-term assets, and 
consequently the volume of investments in European securities is growing steadily. It seems 
that the domestic, Slovenian saving will to a large extent boost investments and employment 
outside Slovenia.  
 
Membership in the European Union has brought Slovenia a multitude of rights but also 
considerable obligations in all financial areas, including insurance. As an example, the 
European Commission in its specialised committees and subcommittees already has 
prepared and adopted around 40 directives regulating the insurance area  (including 
voluntary supplementary pension schemes).  In recent years, the EU regulatory framework 
has been rapidly responding to increasingly more complex relations on the European 
financial markets through directives which at first regulated only supervision of individual 
companies, then supervision of one-sector groups, which developed into the inter-sectoral 
supervision of financial conglomerates. As the sole national insurance supervisory authority, 
the Insurance Supervision Agency has to comply with all those directives in performance of 
its tasks, and to participate in their amendment and adoption. For this purpose, its 
representatives attend meetings of working bodies of the European Commission and in this 
way take part in the further development of the EU insurance legislative framework. 
 
There are two characteristics which distinguish the Slovenian insurance industry from 
comparable financial sectors in other accession states: eight out of twelve insurance 
companies are composite insurance companies, i.e. they are granted an authorisation to 
perform insurance operations both in non-life and in life insurance; and as many as nine of 
them are still in majority domestic ownership (approx. 90 % of the insurance market). Such a 
situation in the insurance market requires from the Insurance Supervision Agency 
appropriate professional competence for performing the supervision of the insurance 
undertakings as individual legal persons and taking into account their holdings in EU Member 
State and third country insurance companies. In accordance with the EU legislative principle 
of “home country control”, the Agency  is responsible also for supervising branches of the 
Slovenian insurance undertakings and their direct performance of insurance operations in EU 
Member States and in the third countries.  
 
Development of the Insurance Market and Risk Management 
 
After introduction of the market system at the beginning of the nineties, the insurance 
companies – unlike the banking sector – rehabilitated themselves, and succeeded to 
maintain a high concentration in the insurance market. As a result, the biggest insurance 
company (by total gross premium collected) still maintained its market share above 42 % 
(without health insurance even 50 %) as at the end of 2003, and the aggregate market share 
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of the three biggest insurance undertakings exceeded 75 %. However, a slight shift can be 
observed, since market shares of six insurance companies increased in 2003 on account of 
a decrease in the share of the biggest insurance company.  
 
In Slovenia, the share of insurance premium in GDP increased by half between 1992 and the 
end of 2003, and in 2003 reached 5 % of the GDP mark. The respective shares in EU 
Member States are approx. 9.5 %. The share of the insurance premium collected in Slovenia 
is lagging behind the comparable shares of the EU Member States, mostly on account of the 
life insurance premium. In 2003, it represented 1 % of GDP, while the share of life insurance 
premium in GDP in EU Member States was 5.4 % already in 2001. The life insurance 
premium collected in Slovenia in the last four years has recorded an average annual 
increase of 18 % and in 2003 exceeded 20 % of total premium collected (in EU approx. 60 % 
of total premium). 
 
In addition to the “potential” of the insurance sector in the life insurance area, the 2000 
pension reform introduced also the voluntary supplementary pension insurance; at the end of 
2003, there were 4 pension companies underwriting pension insurance, with the total 
premium collected amounting to SIT 13.5 billion, and 5 mutual funds, with the total premium 
collected in the amount of SIT 17.1 billion.  
 
The stability of the insurance sector and in particular of individual insurance companies is 
conditional upon adequate risk management, i.e. management of the two portfolios and their 
matching. Risks associated with liabilities are related to determination of premium rates, 
estimating future liabilities (e.g. underwriting risks) and equalising those risks through co-
insurance and re-insurance. In 2003, the net retention share in the total premium of 
insurance undertakings remained at the same level as in 2002 (i.e. 87 %), while the retention 
level of reinsurance undertakings increased from 52 % in 2002 to 64 % in 2003. There are 
also risks associated with assets management, i.e. investment of assets received under 
insurance policies, in particular the risk of loss because of changes in the capital markets, 
interest rates lowering, exchange rate fluctuations and insolvency of contractual partners. 
 
At the end of 2003, investments of Slovenian insurance undertakings and pension 
companies (excluding reinsurance undertakings) totalled SIT 499.3 billion. The share of 
investments of insurance companies (without reinsurance companies) in GDP increased 
from 4.9 % to 8.3 % of GDP between 2000 and 2003, which is an additional indicator of the 
expected future growth of the Slovenian insurance sector and thereby its role in the 
functioning of capital markets.  
 
In 2001, insurance undertakings showed a deficit in investments of assets covering technical 
provisions as a whole, while the mathematical provisions were adequately covered by assets 
(life insurance investments) for the first time ever. In 2002, also investments of assets 
covering technical provisions (without assets covering mathematical provisions) for the first 
time reached the level of coverage of other technical provisions. This coverage further 
improved in 2003. 
 
Investment structure of assets covering technical provisions, and assets covering 
mathematical provisions for insurance undertakings as at 31 December 2003 

 
Investments of assets 

covering technical 
provisions 

 
Investments of assets 
covering mathematical 

provisions 
Government securities        28.9%     54.3% 
Bank deposits         21.4%     13.4% 
Debt and equity securities        29.1%     30.0% 
Other (loans, real estate…)       20.6%       2.3% 
Total                      100.0%   100.0%  
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
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The domestic capital market cannot absorb the entire volume of investments of insurance 
undertakings, and it should seek access to foreign capital markets. At the end of 2003, 
investments in foreign shares and bonds already amounted to SIT 27 billion, of which the 
portfolio of Eurobonds of the RS totalled SIT 15.3 billion. 
 
As a further risk management measure, all insurance companies have to maintain a 
sufficient amount of capital, i.e. ensure minimum capital adequacy. At the end of 2003, 
insurance undertakings, reinsurance undertakings and pension companies posted in the 
aggregate almost SIT 29 billion of the available capital surplus. As at 31 December 2002, 
three insurance companies and one pension company recorded a deficit in the available 
capital. One year later, on 31 December 2003, only one insurance company reported deficit.  
 
Activities of the Insurance Supervision Agency 
 
The Insurance Supervision Agency is responsible also for issuing secondary regulations in 
the insurance area and for their amendment. In order to fine-tune the regulatory framework, 
the Agency adopted amendments to a number of implementing regulations also in 2003.  
The Agency also co-operated with the Ministry of Finance in preparation of the Act amending 
the Insurance Act (IA-B), which entered into force at the beginning of May 2004. 
 
The area of responsibility of the Agency also includes the issue of authorisations and 
consents as well as orders on elimination of violations of regulations on insurance 
undertakings’ operations. 
 
Summary of issued, rejected/refused authorisations, consents and orders on elimination of 
violations in 2003 
 
Type of authorisation   

            Number of authorisations 
 

issued 
 

rejected /  
refused

                       
 
Authorisation for transfer of insurance contracts     3 
 
Authorisation for performance of insurance/reinsurance operations   1 
 
Authorisation on the basis of compliance of insurance companies with the IA  5 
        
Authorisation for transfer of outsourced operations     6 
 
Authorisation to acquire a qualifying holding in an insurance company   3 
 
Authorisation relating to investments of assets covering technical provisions  
and assets covering mathematical provisions      8  1 
 
Authorisation for performance of open-end and close-end pension fund management 4 
 
Prior opinion to a bank for provision of insurance brokerage services   4 
      
Authorisation for performance of the function of a member of the board of directors  
in an insurance undertaking       8   4 
 
Authorisation for performance of tasks of a certified actuary    8 
 
Authorisations for performance of insurance brokerage or agency services  898     58 
 
Order on elimination of violations       21 
 
Total          969  63 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
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The projects carried out by the Agency include the project for information system 
development (“Slovene Insurance Supervisory Agency – Systems Development”), mainly 
supported by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), which is 
aimed at establishing the appropriate data bases, data processing procedures and electronic 
reporting by subjects of supervision to the Agency. The project implementation is in its final 
stage.  
 
Following Slovenia’s full membership in the European Union, the EU legislative principle of 
the common authorisation or the so-called “common EU passport” will have to be applied 
also in the insurance area. In a month and a half after accession to the EU, the Insurance 
Supervision Agency received as many as 36 notifications from supervisory authorities of EU 
Member States of insurance undertakings intending to perform insurance operations in 
Slovenia, either directly or through a branch. The majority of such notifications – of which 
almost all relate to direct performance of insurance operations in non-life insurance classes – 
was received by the Agency from supervisory authorities of Great Britain, Germany and 
Austria.  
 
The Insurance Supervision Agency – as the Slovenian insurance supervisory authority – is 
the founding member of the Committee of European Insurance and Occupational Pension 
Supervisors – CEIOPS). CEIOPS is the main advisory body (“Primary Adviser”) to the 
European Commission in preparing insurance and pension directives. Members of CEIOPS  
meet at three plenary sessions every year, of which two are held at the seat of the 
Committee in Frankfurt, and the third, the so-called “host plenary session”, in one of the 
Member States. This year’s plenary session was hosted by the Insurance Supervision 
Agency in Ljubljana, on 20 and 21 October 2004. 
 
Taking into account the situation described above and, in particular, the rapidly increasing 
social and economic importance of the long-term insurance (life, pension and health), the 
role of the Insurance Supervision Agency, as the authority performing strict supervision of the 
insurance sector, will become even more vital. In order to be able to fulfil its major mission, 
i.e. to provide security of policyholders, the Agency will have to ensure strict and continuous 
supervision in all areas of prudent management of insurance undertakings, in particular of 
investments of assets covering technical provisions, the exposure of which significantly 
increased after elimination of the limitations on investments in foreign assets and because of 
the wide variety of new investment instruments emerging in the market. To cope with the 
situation, the Agency will develop such analyses as “stress tests”, aimed at estimating the 
consequences of loss of property of insurance companies caused by sudden and major 
changes on capital markets. In order to ensure proper assessment of risks and to establish 
the adequate capital of insurance undertakings to match those risks, the Agency will 
endeavour to “individualise” risks at the level of each insurance undertaking and to determine 
the “target” capital to be attained by insurance undertakings in order to provide security to 
their policyholders. 
 
 

 
Ljubljana, 30 June 2004 

 
 

 
 
Jurij Gorišek, M.Sc. 
         Director 
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I. REPORT ON BUSINESS PERFORMANCE OF THE 
INSURANCE INDUSTRY IN 2003 

 
 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

In 2003, the Slovenian insurance market was shared by fourteen insurance 
undertakings (twelve insurance undertakings and two reinsurance undertakings), four 
pension companies, the Nuclear pool, Slovene Export Corporation, Slovene 
Insurance Association – Indemnity Fund, and the Pension Fund Management 
Company – in the part relating to management of the First Pension Fund of the 
Republic of Slovenia. 
 
Eight insurance undertakings out of twelve perform both non-life and life insurance 
operations, three only non-life insurance operations, and the one, established in 
2003, only life insurance operations. 
 
The insurance market is controlled by three insurance groups. The first is grouped 
around the Triglav Insurance Company as the parent (controlling) insurance 
undertaking, the second around the Sava Reinsurance Company, and the third with 
the KD Holding as the parent undertaking to the Adriatic Insurance Company and 
Slovenica Insurance House.   
 
In 2003, the Ownership Transformation of Insurance Companies Act (hereinafter: 
OTICA-1), which entered into force on 29 May 2002 and was subject to review of 
constitutionality, brought important changes in the area of ownership transformation 
of insurance undertakings. After the Constitutional Court decision of February 2003 
stating that ICOTA-1 is not in disagreement with the Constitution, save in its Article 
11, paragraph (4) (which did not provide for the right of individual known 
shareholders to bring an action against the Government decision, determining the 
ratio between the state and private capital), the procedures for ownership 
transformation of insurance companies could continue. The procedures were under 
way both at the Triglav Insurance Company and the Sava Reinsurance Company, 
which together with their related insurance companies represented more than three 
quarters of the Slovenian insurance market.  
 
2. LEGAL FRAMEWORK 

 
The basic act, which regulates the issues related to establishment, operation, 
supervision and dissolution of insurance undertakings is the Insurance Act. This act 
has introduced special rules applicable to insurance undertakings which are an 
important group of non-monetary financial institutions, while, at the same time, 
insurance undertakings as companies have to comply also with the legislation 
applying to the operation of companies in general. 
 
The laws which are of particular importance for the operation of insurance 
undertakings are: the Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act, which among 
others regulates the compulsory motor vehicle liability insurance or coverage of the 
owner of the vehicle for damages caused to third persons; the Health Care and 
Health Insurance Act (hereinafter: the HCHIA), which allows for supplementary 
health insurance operations to be performed by the insurance undertakings; and the 
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Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (hereinafter: the PIIA-1), which regulates forms 
of voluntary supplementary pension insurance.  
 
2.1. Insurance Act (IA) 

 
The Insurance Act was passed on 27 January 2000 and amended in 2002 and 2004 
(Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 13/2000, 91/2000-corrigendum, 21/02, 29/03 – CC 
decision and 50/04).  
 
2.2. Implementing Regulations issued on the Basis of the Insurance 
Act 
 
In accordance with the Insurance Act, the Agency is authorised to issue regulations 
addressing the insurance area. Based on this provision, the Agency has prepared 
and adopted altogether 20 implementing regulations. As regards their contents, the 
implementing regulations may be divided into four major subgroups: 
 
The first subgroup comprises the implementing regulations laying down the detailed 
rules for meeting prudential standards. They stipulate: 
-  the detailed rules for calculating the insurance undertakings’ minimum capital; 
-  the detailed types and features of assets covering technical provisions; 
-  the detailed rules and minimum standards relating to calculation of technical 

provisions; 
-  the method of valuation of assets and liabilities of the insurance undertaking; 
-  the method of calculation of the liquidity ratios to be applied; 
-  the requirements for calculation of the adjusted solvency requirements of 

parent insurance undertakings; 
-  the method of calculating the insurance undertaking’s retention level in the 

tables of maximum coverage. 
 
The second subgroup lays down the detailed rules for reporting. The frequency of 
reporting depends on the type of report. An insurance undertaking is obliged to 
calculate, monitor and report to the Agency, on a quarterly basis, the amount of 
capital, capital requirements, capital adequacy, the amount of technical provisions, 
the value of technical provisions, the types, spreading, adjustment and location of the 
assets covering technical provisions, and the statistical insurance data. 
 
The implementing regulations laying down conditions for acquiring and examining the 
expertise for performing the tasks of a certified actuary constitute the third subgroup. 
 
The fourth subgroup comprises the implementing regulations which lay down detailed 
conditions for acquiring and examining the expertise which is required in order to 
obtain the authorisation to transact the business of insurance agency and brokerage. 
 
2.3.       Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act (CMTLA) 
 
The Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 
70/94 and 67/02) regulates among others: accident insurance of passengers in public 
transport and motor vehicle liability insurance or coverage of the owner of the motor 
vehicle, aircraft and ship for damages caused to third persons. In the EU, this 
particular area is regulated by a special set of directives, which are incorporated also 
in the CMTLA. The last amendments to the IA have brought into line also the amount 
of the minimum insurance sums for loss in the event of death, bodily injury or 
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impaired health. With Slovenia’s full membership, certain new rights, e.g. to directly 
pursue the claims and to appoint the claim representative, have been granted.  
 
2.4. Health Care and Health Insurance Act (HCHIA) 

 
The Health Care and Health Insurance Act (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 9/92, 
13/93, 9/96, 29/96, 6/99, 99/01, 60/02 and 126/03) sets the framework of the health 
care and health insurance system. The health insurance consists of compulsory and 
voluntary insurance. The provider of compulsory health insurance is the Health 
Insurance Institute of the Republic of Slovenia, while voluntary health insurance 
operations may be performed by insurance companies holding the corresponding 
authorisation. The HCHIA in conjunction with the provisions of Articles 14 and 70 of 
the IA allows the insurance undertakings also to perform the supplementary health 
insurance business. 
 
2.5. Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (the PIIA-1) 
 
The Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 106/99, 
72/00,  124/00, 109/01, 108/02 and 135/03) regulates the supplementary pension 
and invalidity insurance of persons insured under the compulsory insurance. The 
said act provides for more stringent conditions of compulsory pension insurance and, 
on the other hand, introduces supplementary pension schemes with tax relief for the 
voluntary insurance premium. The supplementary voluntary pension insurance 
represents collecting of funds on personal accounts of persons insured under this 
form of insurance with the purpose of providing them, upon attaining a certain age or 
in other cases defined by the pension scheme (supplementary invalidity pension and 
supplementary survivor’s pension), with supplementary pensions or other rights. 
Pension schemes may be provided by pension funds or insurance undertakings 
holding the authorisation to perform life insurance operations in conformity with the 
law regulating insurance. A pension fund may be established as a mutual pension 
fund or as a pension company. At all events, this act has a major impact on 
insurance undertakings’ operations since on the basis thereof the insurance 
undertakings may have various roles: as pension scheme carriers and providers; as 
founders of open-end and close-end mutual pension funds; and as potential 
managers of mutual pension funds and pension companies.  
 
 
3. INSURANCE COMPANIES 

 
3.1.  Structure of the Insurance Market by Types and Classes of 

Insurance 
 

The gross insurance premiums written in 2003 amounted to SIT 285 billion, of which 
non-life premiums totalled SIT 156 billion or 54.7 %, supplementary health premiums 
SIT 69 billion or 24.3 %, and life premiums SIT 60 billion or 21 %.  
 
In comparison with 2002, there was a 5.4 % rise in insurance business, measured by 
insurance premiums written (the average inflation rate in 2003 expressed by the 
average consumers’ price index was 5.6 %), which means a 1.4 percentage point 
drop year-on-year. The most vigorous growth against the previous year was again 
posted in life assurance (the gross insurance premium written increased by 13.2 % in 
real terms).  Also the voluntary health insurance had a prominent growth rate of 5.0 
% in real terms, while non-life insurance recorded a 0.2 % real growth.  
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The structure of insurance premiums collected from basic types of insurance in 2003 
shows the upward trend of life insurance premiums, the share of which in the total 
premium increased by one and a half of a percentage point, while the shares of non-
life insurance and supplementary health insurance decreased by 0.2 and 1.3 
percentage points, respectively. 
 
Figure 1:  Movements in gross insurance premiums written in the period 2001-

2003 by type of insurance (SIT billion) 
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Source: St-41 and St-50 Forms  
 
The comparison of non-life gross insurance premium collected shows that almost 90 
% of non-life insurance premiums were collected in five insurance classes. These 
are: motor vehicle liability insurance, land motor vehicle casco, accident insurance, 
other non-life insurance and fire insurance. Of these, a rise of market share in the 
reference period was recorded in motor vehicle liability insurance (by 1.6 percentage 
points), accident insurance (by 0.3 percentage points) and land motor vehicle casco 
(by 0.2 percentage points), while the shares of other non-life insurance and fire 
insurance decreased (by 0.6 and 0.3 percentage points, respectively). About 56 % of 
total non-life insurance premium was collected by motor vehicles insurance. Another 
two important classes in terms of insurance premium written are other liability 
insurance and credit insurance, which together represent 7.3 % of non-life insurance 
premiums, other than health insurance. However, the most prominent growth in 
market share was seen in land motor vehicle liability insurance, which represented a 
38.5 % share in the total non-life insurance premium in 2003 – an almost 9 % 
increase over the 35.4 % share in 2001.  
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Figure 2:  Non-life insurance premiums collected in the period 2001-2003, other 
than health insurance  (SIT billion) 
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Table 1:  Gross insurance premiums written and gross claims incurred in the 

period 2002-2003 (SIT billion) 
 
 

2002 2003 

Insurance class 

Gross 
premium 
written 

(1) 

Gross 
claims 

incurred* 
(2) 

Share** 
(2/1) 

Gross 
premium 
written 

(1) 

Gross claims 
incurred* 

(2) 

Share** 
(2/1) 

Accident 18.5 11.4 0.62 20.9 12.8 0.61 

Land motor vehicles 
casco 24.3 19.6 0.80 27.3 21.9 0.80 

Goods in transits 1.7 0.5 0.28 1.5 0.7 0.55 

Fire and natural forces 13.8 4.3 0.31 14.9 8.1 0.55 

Other damage to property 15.6 10.1 0.65 16.3 10.4 0.63 

Motor vehicle liability 51.9 29.8 0.57 60.1 34.1 0.57 

Other liability 5.7 4.8 0.84 6.5 5.5 0.84 

Credit 6.0 6.0 1.00 4.8 4.1 0.85 

Other non-life insurance 3.2 1.8 0.56 3.9 2.2 0.56 

TOTAL 140.8 88.2 0.63 156.1 99.7 0.64 

Voluntary health, 
sickness 65.6 53.3 0.81 69.4 57.7 0.83 

Life assurance 50.1 19.0 0.38 59.9 25.0 0.42 

TOTAL 256.5 160.6 0.63 285.4 182.4 0.64 
* not including claim assessment costs 
** data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million 
Source: St-50 Form  
 
 
 



 6 

Table 1 shows the share of gross claims incurred in gross insurance premium written 
in life insurance, health insurance and those classes of non-life insurance which are 
the major classes in this insurance group by insurance premium written. The 
comparison of gross insurance premiums written and gross claims incurred shows 
that the aggregate claims ratio deteriorated by 1 percentage point in 2003. In 
comparison with the previous year, the claims ratio decreased in all three insurance 
groups: the claims ratio for non-life insurance by 1 percentage point, and for 
voluntary health insurance by 2 percentage points. A slightly more pronounced fall is 
seen in the claims ratio for life insurance – by 4 percentage points, which is to be 
attributed to the aging in this insurance portfolio and a larger share of matured 
liabilities under life assurance contracts as compared to the previous year. 
 
An analysis of gross insurance premium written and gross claims incurred by classes 
of insurance reveals that the claims ratio improved only in two major non-life 
insurance classes (accident insurance and other non-life insurance). The claims ratio 
for land motor vehicle casco and motor vehicle liability insurance as well as other 
liability insurance remained at the previous year’s level. However, a significant 
deterioration was seen in the claims ratios for fire insurance (by 24 percentage 
points) and goods in transit (by 22 percentage points). The claims ratio improved in 
some other classes of insurance – less important by their respective shares in the 
insurance premium written (credit insurance, railway rolling stock casco, etc.).   
 
Figure 3:  Gross insurance premiums written and gross claims incurred in 2003 

by classes of insurance (SIT billion) 
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Figure 3 shows that voluntary health insurance is the most important insurance class 
by reference to the insurance premiums written, life insurance holds the third place, 
with accident insurance also representing quite a significant share. The above 
mentioned classes of insurance are often referred to as personal insurance. Because 
of their importance, the tables below show also the number of policies and number of 
insured persons in those classes of insurance.  
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Table 2:  Number of policies and number of policyholders in the period 2002-
2003 in “Accident Insurance” class 

      

2002 2003 Index 2003/2002 

Category of insurance contract Policies 
Insured 
persons Policies 

Insured 
persons Policies 

Insured 
persons 

TOTAL (Items 2 to 10) 1,484,339 6,834,331 1,745,648 8,973,459 118 131 
Personal accident insurance 
against accidents at and outside 
regular work 94,630 893,094 146,226 1,004,335 155 112 
Personal accident insurance 
against risk to passengers in 
motor vehicles and in 
performing special activities 649,274 1,763,987 701,997 1,914,211 108 109 
Children and schoolchildren 
accident insurance and other 
special accident insurance of 
the youth 77,528 251,747 154,579 327,584 199 130 
Guests, visitors and tourist 
group accident insurance 1,019 2,922,331 2,036 4,005,540 200 137 
Consumer and customer group 
accident insurance 26 146,991 1,959 737,343 7,535 502 
Other special accident 
insurance 532 122,517 564 170,081 106 139 
Compulsory accident insurance 
of passengers in public 
transport 342 30,286 439 41,405 128 137 
Car owner and driver accident 
insurance 
(AO plus) 656,498 667,119 732,659 585,855 112 88 

All other accident insurance 4,490 36,259 5,189 187,014 116 516 

* not including claim assessment costs     
Source: St-1 Form  
  
In 2003, insurance undertakings sold 1,745,648 policies covering 8,973,459 insured 
persons against risks under the accident insurance. In comparison to 2002, the 
number of policies increased by 18 % and the number of insured persons covered by 
31 %. This growth was primarily due to guests, visitors and tourist groups accident 
insurance totalling 4,005,540 insured persons, and personal accident insurance 
against risk to passengers in motor vehicles and in performing special activities with 
1,914,211 insured persons. These two types of insurance cover 66 % of all insured 
persons in the accident insurance class. The most vigorous growth in the number of 
persons covered against the previous year was seen in other accident insurance (a 
416 % increase) and customer and consumer group accident insurance, where their 
number increased by 402 % year-on-year. The number of persons insured under 
driver and car owner accident insurance (bodily injuries) (AO plus) decreased by 12 
percentage points against the previous year’s figure. 
 
In 2003, insurance undertakings underwrote 1,404,040 policies covering 1,666,381 
persons under the health insurance class. This means a 3 % increase in the number 
of policies and a 5 % increase in the number of persons insured over the previous 
year. Supplementary health insurance accounted for as much as 90 % of policies or 
84 % of insured persons in the health insurance class in 2003. In 2003, the number 
of policies and persons covered in health insurance increased by 2 %. Also the 
number of policies and number of persons covered in other health insurance 
increased – the number of policies by 24 % and the number of insured persons by 32 
%, and in health insurance of persons excluded from compulsory health insurance 
even by 98 %. In all other health insurance classes the number of policies and 
persons covered fell. 
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Table 3:  Number of policies and number of policyholders in the period 2002-
2003 for “Health Insurance” 

Table 4:  Number of policies and number of policyholders in 2002 and 2003 for 
“Life Insurance”(1) 

 
2002 2003 Index 2003/2002 

Category of insurance contract Policies 
Insured 
persons Policies 

Insured 
persons Policies 

Insured 
persons 

 TOTAL 561,033 650,954 665,792 739,003 119 114 
Life insurance (item 19*) 515,348 604,640 584,589 655,524 113 108 
Insurance paying out at 
marriage and birth (item 20*) 2,176 2,176 2,263 2,265 104 104 
Life assurance linked to 
investment fund units (item 21*) 5,764 6,393 37,990 40,264 659 630 

Tontine (item 22*) 0 0 0 0   
Capital redemption insurance 
(item 23*) 37,745 37,745 40,950 40,950 108 108 

* Article 2 of the IA 
Source: St-19 Form  
 
In 2003, the insurance undertakings issued 665,792 policies for life insurance, 
covering 739,003 insured persons. In comparison to 2002, the number of policies 
increased by 19 % and the number of the insured by 14 %. The bulk of policies in this 
insurance group consists of death and endowment insurance policies. 
 
Insurance undertakings underwriting policies in life insurance may underwrite also 
additional accident insurance, e.g. disability insurance due to illness or injury, death 
due to an accident, and injury, including incapacity for work. Insurance companies 
classify the voluntary pension insurance under capital redemption insurance. The 
growth index for number of policies and the number of insured persons in capital 
redemption insurance notched 8 %. 

                                                 
(1) Note: The St-19 Form was amended by the Decision amending the Decision on reporting the statistical insurance 
data – SKL2002 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 129/03), which entered into force on 23 December 2003. For the 
purpose of comparability, the data for 2002 contained in Table 4 are prepared in accordance with the said 
amendments, and somewhat differ from data published in the Report on business performance of the insurance 
industry in 2002. 
 

2002 2003 Index 2003/2002 

Category of insurance contract Policies 
Insured 
persons Policies 

Insured 
persons 

Policie
s 

Insured 
persons 

TOTAL (Items 2 to 8) 1,368,495 1,592,277 1,404,040 1,666,381 103 105 

HI of persons excluded from 
compulsory health insurance 
(CHI)** 

689 741 526 1,465 76 198 

HI of persons excluded from 
compulsory health insurance 
(CHI)*** 

23 900 18 19 78 2 

Supplementary health 
insurance 1,247,332 1,371,278 1,267,350 1,392,917 102 102 

Health insurance for risks 
covered from compulsory health 
insurance through special 
procedures 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additional rights and higher 
standard of services as covered 
by CHI**** 

43,295 44,126 40,737 41,468 94 94 

Other 77,156 175,232 95,409 230,512 124 132 
* Not including claim 
assessment costs     
** Risks otherwise covered by CHI  
*** Risks, which otherwise may be covered by supplementary health insurance referred to in Article 2 (7) of the IA  
**** Data for 2002 are not identical with those contained in the Report on business performance of the insurance industry in 2002, because the 
insurance undertaking submitted modified data after its publication.  
Source: St-2 Form  
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3.2.   Structure of the Insurance Market by Shares 
 

In terms of market share there were no substantial changes from the positions 
occupied by insurance undertakings in 2002. The Slovenica Insurance Company 
recorded the highest growth of its market share (by 0.3 percentage points), while the 
newly established NLB Vita Insurance Company already ranked as the tenth largest. 
The Triglav Insurance Company has the biggest market share (42.6 %), which fell by 
0.2 percentage point year-on-year. The second largest is the Mutual Health 
Insurance with a 19.9 % market share (its market share fell by 1.2 percentage point). 
The third place in terms of gross insurance premium written goes to the Maribor 
Insurance Company with a 13.3 % market share, which means a 0.1 percentage 
point  increase over the previous year. The combined market share of the three 
largest insurance companies in 2003 was 75.4 %, which is a 1.4 percentage point 
decrease from the last year. The ranking of insurance undertakings by their 
respective market shares remained the same as in the previous year. 
 
Table 5:  Gross insurance premiums written and market shares in 2003 

(SIT billion) 
 

2003 

Insurance company 
Non-
life %* Health %* Life %* Total %* 

Adriatic Insurance Company 14.1 9.0 12.3 17.8 1.9 3.2 28.3 9.9 

Triglav, Health Insurance Company 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 

Generali Insurance Company 2.7 1.7 0 0.0 2.0 3.3 4.7 1.6 

Maribor Insurance Company 27.3 17.5 0 0.0 10.7 17.8 37.9 13.3 

Krekova Insurance Company 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 

Merkur Insurance Company 1.0 0.7 0 0.0 5.6 9.3 6.6 2.3 

Grawe Insurance Company 1.4 0.9 0 0.0 3.8 6.4 5.3 1.8 

Slovenica Insurance House 10.7 6.9 0.4 0.5 2.9 4.9 14.0 4.9 

Tilia Insurance Company 7.2 4.6 0 0.0 0.7 1.1 7.9 2.8 

Triglav Insurance Company 91.5 58.6 0 0.0 30.0 50.2 121.6 42.6 

NLB Vita 0.1 0.1 0 0.0 2.3 3.8 2.4 0.8 

Mutual Health Insurance 0 0.0 56.7 81.7 0 0.0 56.7 19.9 

TOTAL 156.1 100 69.4 100 59.9 100 285.4 100 
* Data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million 
Source: St-50 Form  
 
As regards non-life insurance, other than health insurance, the Triglav Insurance 
Company with its share of 58.6 % retained its leading position in the market, although 
its market share fell by 0.9 percentage point. The second largest – the Maribor 
Insurance Company – slightly pushed up its market share to 17.5 % (a 0.3 
percentage point rise). The next two places are held by the Adriatic Insurance 
Company with 9 % and Slovenica Insurance House with a 6.9 % market share.  

 
In life assurance, the Slovenica Insurance Company and Generali Insurance 
Company recorded growth and their respective markets shares increased from 3.6 % 
to 4.9 % and from 2.8 % to 3.3 %, respectively. The newly established NLB Vita 
Insurance Company, selling life insurance, with a 3.8 % share ranked the sixth 
already in its first year of operation. Several insurance companies recorded a drop in 
their market shares: the Triglav Insurance Company (its market share fell from 51.9 
% to 50.2 %), Maribor Insurance Company (its share fell from 20.1 % to 17.8 %), 
Merkur insurance Company (its market share decreased from 10.2 % to 9.3 %) and 
Tilia Insurance Company, whose share fell from 1.2 % to 1.1 %.  
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The voluntary health insurance market is shared between the Health Insurance 
Mutual and Adriatic Insurance Company. The share of the latter increased in 2003 at 
the expense of a decrease in the respective share of the former. Thus the Health 
Insurance Mutual posted an 81.7 % market share in 2003 and Adriatic a 17.8 % 
market share.  
 
3.3.   Performance of Insurance and Reinsurance Undertakings 
 
The review of performance of insurance and reinsurance undertakings in 2003 
covers unaudited income statements for nine insurance and reinsurance 
undertakings and audited income statements for five insurance and reinsurance 
undertakings. Insurance undertakings prepared their statements in accordance with 
the implementing regulations issued by the Agency (Decision on the framework chart 
of accounts for insurance undertakings, Decision on annual report of insurance 
undertakings, Decision on the detailed method of valuation of accounting items and 
compiling financial statements) and by applying the methodology of the Slovenian 
Accounting Standards. 
 
The Decision on the annual report of insurance undertakings lays down detailed 
contents of the annual report, which should consist of the required financial 
statements (balance sheet, income statement, indirect cash flow statement, 
statement of changes in equity capital, including statement of distribution of balance-
sheet profit and coverage of balance-sheet loss), notes to the financial statements 
and business report. 
 
3.3.1.  Performance of Insurance Undertakings 
 
The income statement of an insurance undertaking shows income, expenditure and 
the operating result for the financial year concerned, separately for non-life, life and 
health insurance.  
 
Table 6:  Summary income statement of the insurance undertakings for 2002 and 

2003 (SIT billion) 
 

  Č. INCOME STATEMENT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 2002 2003 

I. Profit or loss from non-life insurance, other than health insurance (A.X) 4.5 3.5 

II. Profit or loss from life assurance (B.XIII) 3.7 3.3 

III. Profit or loss from health insurance (C.XIII) 3.5 2.1 

IV. Investment income 21.4 20.3 

V. Allocated investment return transferred from the income statement from life insurance (B.XII) 0.3 0.2 

VI. Allocated investment return transferred from the income statement from health insurance (C.XII) 0.2 0.3 

VII. Investment expenses 3.4 5.7 

VIII. 
Allocated investment return transferred from the income statement from non-life insurance, 
other than health insurance (A.II) 17.2 14.2 

IX. Other income from ordinary activities 0.4 0.4 

X. Other expenses from ordinary activities 3.2 2.5 

XII. 
Net profit or loss from ordinary activities (Č.I+Č.II+Č.III+Č.IV+Č.V+Č.VI-Č.VII-Č.VIII+Č.IX-
Č.X) 10.3 7.7 

  D. INCOME STATEMENT FROM EXTRAORDINARY OPERATIONS    

I. Extraordinary income 0.6 0.6 

II. Extraordinary expenses 0.2 1.4 

III. Profit or loss from extraordinary activities 0.4 -0.8 

  E. INCOME TAX ON EXTRAORDINARY ACTIVITIES 2.2 1.9 

  G. NET PROFIT OR NET LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR (Č.XII+D.III – E) 8.5 5.0 
Source: Audited income statements of insurance undertakings for 2002 and unaudited income statements of insurance undertakings for 2003 
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For the financial year 2003, insurance undertakings posted the aggregate net profit in 
the amount of SIT 5 billion, while in 2002 net profit amounted to SIT 8.5 billion. They 
achieved a positive technical account in all three basic types of insurance, i.e. life, 
health and non-life (other than health).  
 
Five insurance undertakings showed a net loss in 2003 totalling SIT 2.8 billion, while 
in 2002 three insurance undertaking posted a loss in the aggregate amount of SIT 
0.9 billion.  
 
Table 7:  Summary income statement from non-life insurance, other than life and 

health insurance, for 2002 and 2003 (SIT billion) 
 

  

A. INCOME STATEMENT FROM NON-LIFE INSURANCE 
(OTHER THAN LIFE AND HEALTH) 

2002 2003 

I. Net earned premiums 110.0 121.5 

II. 
Allocated investment return transferred from the income statement 
from ordinary activities 17.2 14.2 

III. Other net income from insurance operations 1.3 0.9 

IV. Net claims incurred 75.5 92.2 

V. Change in net other technical provisions  (+/-) 3.1 0.5 

VI. Net bonuses and rebates 2.3 2.0 

VII. Net operating expenses 30.6 33.0 

VIII. Other net insurance expenses 10.2 5.1 

IX. Change in the equalisation provisions (+/-) 2.4 0.4 

X. Profit or loss from non-life insurance  (I+II+III-IV+/-V-VI-VII-VIII+/-IX) 4.5 3.5 
Source: Audited income statements of insurance undertakings for 2002 and unaudited income statements of insurance undertakings for 2003 
 
Net insurance premium from non-life insurance, other than life and health insurance, 
earned in 2003 grew by 10 %, but also net claims incurred went up considerably – by 
22 %. Investment income decreased over the previous year by 18 %. Nevertheless, 
insurance undertakings still recorded a positive technical account from non-life 
insurance, although by 24 percentage points lower than in the previous year.  
 
Table 8:  Summary income statement from life insurance for 2002 and 2003 (SIT 

billion) 
 

  B. INCOME STATEMENT FROM LIFE INSURANCE 2002 2003 

I. Net earned premiums 48.9 58.8 

II. Investment income 17.2 17.3 

III. 
Net unrealised gains from investments for life-assurance policies 
where the investment risk is borne by the policyholders 0 0.2 

IV. Other net income from insurance operations 0.3 1.1 

V. Net claims incurred 19.7 26.3 

VI. Changes in net other technical provisions  (+/-) 29.7 31.9 

VII. Net bonuses and rebates 0 0 

VIII. Net operating expenses 11.3 13.3 

IX. Investment expenses 1.2 1.1 

XI. Other net insurance expenses 0.4 1.2 

XII. 
Allocated investment return transferred to the income statement 
from ordinary activities (-) 0.3 0.2 

XIII. 
Profit or loss from life assurance  (I+II+III+IV-V+/-VI-VII-VIII-IX-XI-
XII) 3.7 3.3 

Source: Audited income statements of insurance undertakings for 2002 and unaudited income statements of insurance undertakings for 2003 
 



 12

The technical account of life assurance in 2003 showed profit in the amount of SIT 
3.3 billion. In comparison with the figure posted in the previous year, it decreased by 
11 percentage points, which was mostly the result of a 26 % growth in net claims 
incurred and an appreciably lower 14 % rise in net insurance premiums earned. 
 
Table 9:  Summary income statement from health insurance for 2002 and 2003 

(SIT billion) 
 

  C. INCOME STATEMENT FROM HEALTH INSURANCE 2002 2003 

I. Net earned premiums 64.5 69.4 

II. Investment income 2.6 2.6 

IV. Other net income from insurance operations 0 0.1 

V. Net claims incurred 53.4 57.8 

VI. Changes in other net technical provisions  (+/-) 2.9 4.1 

VIII. Net operating expenses 6.7 7.4 

IX. Investment expenses 0.2 0.1 

XI. Other net insurance expenses 0.2 0.4 

XII. 
Allocated investment return transferred to the income statement 
from ordinary activities (-) 0.2 0.3 

XIII. Profit or loss from health insurance  (I+II+IV-V+/-VI-VIII-IX-XI-XII) 3.5 2.1 
Source: Audited income statements of insurance undertakings for 2002 and unaudited income statements of insurance undertakings for 2003 
 
The health insurance posted a black figure technical account in 2003 in the amount 
of SIT 2.1 billion, which is 41 percentage points less than in the previous year. Such 
a result mostly reflects unfavourable ratios between net earned insurance premium 
and net claims incurred and operating expenses. Net earned premiums in 2003 
against 2002 grew by 1.9 % in real terms, while net claims incurred increased by 2.4 
% and operating expenses by 4.2 % in real terms. 
  
 
3.3.2.  Performance of Reinsurance Undertakings 
 
Both reinsurance undertakings generated a positive result in the amount of SIT 2.3 
billion in 2003, which is 42 % more than in the previous year, while the technical 
account notched almost a 40 % rise. This significant rise can be mostly attributed to 
the growth of net earned  insurance premium (26 %), with net claims incurred 
increasing only by 4 %, which gives a 1.5 % reduction in real terms.   
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Table 10:  Summary income statement of the reinsurance undertakings for 2002 
and 2003 (SIT billion) 

 

  

A. INCOME STATEMENT FROM NON-LIFE INSURANCE (OTHER THAN LIFE 
AND HEALTH) 

2002 2003 

I. Net earned premiums 14.9 18.7 

II. 
Allocated investment return transferred from the income statement from ordinary 
activities 3.4 2.7 

IV. Net claims incurred 13.8 14.4 

V. Change in net other technical provisions  (+/-) 1.6 -0.5 

VII. Net operating expenses 2.8 5.4 

VIII. Other net insurance expenses 0 0 

IX. Change in the equalisation provisions (+/-) -0.7 0.2 

X. Profit or loss from non-life insurance  (I+II-IV+/-V-VII-VIII+/-IX) 0.8 1.9 

  Č. INCOME STATEMENT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES     

I. Profit or loss from non-life insurance, other than health insurance (A.X) 0.8 1.9 

IV. Investment income 4.9 4.2 

VII. Investment expenses 0.3 0.5 

VIII. 
Allocated investment return transferred from the income statement from non-life 
insurance, other than health insurance (A.II) 3.4 2.7 

IX. Other income from ordinary activities 0 0 

X. Other expenses from ordinary activities 0 0 

XII. Net profit or loss from ordinary activities (Č.I+Č.IV-Č.VII-Č.VIII+Č.IX-Č.X) 2.0 2.9 

  D. INCOME STATEMENT FROM EXTRAORDINARY OPERATIONS     

I. Extraordinary income 0 0 

II. Extraordinary expenses 0 0 

III. Profit or loss from extraordinary activities 0 0 

  E. INCOME TAX ON EXTRAORDINARY ACTIVITIES 378.7 624.7 

  G. NET PROFIT OR NET LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR (Č.XII+D.III – E) 1.6 2.3 
Source: Audited income statements of reinsurance companies for 2002 and unaudited income statements of reinsurance companies for 2003 
 
 
3.4.       Balance Sheets 
 
3.4.1.   Balance Sheets of Insurance Undertakings 
 
The summary balance sheet as at 31 December 2002 and 31 December 2003 
covers all three types of insurance: non-life, life and health, although insurance 
undertakings were obliged to compile for both years separate balance sheets for 
non-life and life insurance in accordance with the Decision on the annual report of 
insurance undertakings. 
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Table 11:  Summary balance sheet of insurance undertakings as at 31 December 
2002 and 31 December 2003 (SIT billion) 

 
Life assurance Non-life insurance Consolidated balance sheet  

2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 Index 
03/02* 

  ASSETS 174.0 215.3 266.9 309.9 437.5 522.3 119 

A Intangible assets 0 0.3 2.2 3.3 2.2 3.6 161 

B 

Investments in land and 
buildings and other 
investments 165.9 201.1 217.0 252.2 383.0 453.3 118 

 – Of which: other investments 160.0 194.8 163.1 196.3 323.1 391.1 121 

C 

Investments for the benefit 
of life-assurance 
policyholders who bear the 
investment risk 0.2 4.0 0 0 0.2 4.0 1.633 

Č Debtors; of which: 3.3 4.2 35.7 42.0 35.6 43.1 121 

 
– Debtors arising from direct 
insurance operations 0.8 1.0 20.4 25.1 21.3 26.2 123 

 
– Debtors arising from 
reinsurance operations 0.4 0.3 2.5 5.9 2.9 6.2 212 

D Diverse assets 0.4 0.5 7.9 7.4 8.3 7.9 95 

E 
Prepayments and accrued 
income 4.0 5.5 4.1 5.0 8.1 10.5 129 

  LIABILITIES 174.0 215.5 266.9 309.9 437.5 522.3 119 

A Capital; of which:  14.1 22.1 50.6 57.8 64.7 79.9 124 

 – Called-up capital: 6.0 7.9 30.0 29.9 36.0 37.8 105 

 
– Specific capital revaluation 
adjustment 6.4 10.5 8.4 13.4 14.8 23.9 162 

 – Reserves (profit reserves) 1.2 2.1 7.7 10.2 8.9 12.2 138 

B Subordinated liabilities 0 0 2.8 11.2 2.8 11.2 402 

C Net technical provisions 151.6 181.0 191.0 214.7 342.6 395.7 115 

Č 

Net provisions for the 
benefit of life-assurance 
policyholders who bear  the 
investment risk 0.2 3.9 0 0 0.2 3.9 1.827 

D 
Provisions for other risks 
and charges 1.4 1.5 0.1 0.1 1.5 1.6 110 

E 

Amounts owed for 
investments to reinsurance 
companies arising from 
reinsurance contracts with 
ceding undertakings 1.2 1.9 0.1 0.5 1.3 2.4 179 

F – Creditors;  of which 4.2 4.0 21.1 23.6 22.0 24.5 111 

 
– Creditors arising from direct 
insurance operations 1.0 1.2 6.9 7.7 7.8 8.9 114 

 
–. Creditors arising from 
reinsurance operations 0.2 0.1 3.8 6.4 4.0 6.5 161 

G 
Accruals and deferred 
income 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.8 2.5 3.1 124 

* Data used in calculation of indexes expressed in SIT million 
Source: Audited balance sheets of insurance industry as of 31 December 2002 and unaudited balance sheets of insurance industry as at 31 December 2003 
 
In 2003, the insurance undertakings increased their balance sheet total by SIT 84.8 
billion or 19 % in comparison with the previous year. The most flourishing growth on 
the assets side was that of investments for the benefit of life-assurance policyholders 
who bear the investment risk (by 1530 %) and debtors out of co-insurance and 
reinsurance (by 112 %). A considerable increase was recorded also in other 
investments (by 21 %) and investments in enterprises in the group and associates 
(by 8 %). A sizeable increase was shown also in prepayments and accrued income 
(by 29 %), while the amount of other debtors shrank by 7 %. Investments accounted 
for 79.6 % of all assets as at 31 December 2003. 
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The liabilities side reveals a rise of SIT 15.3 billion in capital, which represents a  
jump of 24 %. This rise can be mostly attributed to the effect of the special equity 
revaluation adjustment due to strengthening, which increased by SIT 9.1 billion or 62 
% against the previous year. The positive total result and the profit brought forward 
also boosted reserves, which increased by 38 % year-on-year.  
 
An interesting outcome is gained also by comparison of the balance sheet total and 
individual balance sheet items in non-life and life insurance. 
 
The balance sheet total for life insurance as at 31 December 2003 represents 
already 41 % of the balance sheet total for the entire insurance industry, which 
significantly exceeds the share of gross premiums written for life insurance in the 
total gross premiums written for 2003 (21 %).  
 
Such a high balance sheet total for life assurance mostly reflects its dynamic 
investment activity. In case of life insurance, investments amounted to SIT 199 billion 
and accounted for 92.8 % of the balance sheet total for life insurance, while for non-
life insurance they amount to only SIT 218 billion or 70.5 % of balance sheet total. 
However, investments in land and buildings show quite an opposite picture. The 
major chunk of these investments, including also investments in land and buildings 
for direct insurance operations, is financed from non-life insurance, where they 
represent 10.8 % of balance sheet total, while in life insurance they stand at mere 0.5 
%. 
 
The relations between the life and non-life assets reflect the corresponding relations 
on the liabilities side of balance sheets of the insurance undertakings. Net technical 
provisions of non-life insurance represent 69.3 % of balance sheet total, and as much 
as 84 % of balance sheet total of life insurance. There is a reverse situation with the 
share of capital in the overall liabilities – in non-life insurance it notched 18.7 %, while 
with life insurance it stayed at 10.3 %. Among other indicators, it proves that the 
major part of investments in land and buildings for direct insurance operations is 
financed from capital deriving from non-life insurance.    
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3.4.2.     Balance Sheets of Reinsurance Undertakings 
 
Table 12:  Summary balance sheet of reinsurance undertakings as at 31 December 

2002 and 31 December 2003 (SIT billion) 
 

   
2002 

 
2003 

 
Index 
03/02* 

  ASSETS 60.6 66.4 110 

A. Intangible assets 0 0 86 

B. 
Investments in land and buildings and other 
investments 46.2 51.3 111 

 – of which: Other investments 38.7 42.7 110 

Č. Debtors 12.3 12.9 105 

 – of which: Debtors arising from reinsurance operations 11.3 11.9 105 

D. Diverse assets 0.2 0.1 60 

E. Prepayments and accrued income 1.8 2.1 113 
  LIABILITIES 60.6 66.4 110 

A. Capital; of which:  14.9 17.8 119 

 – Called-up capital: 0.8 8.6 1.017 

 – Reserves (profit reserves) 4.0 3.1 79 

C. Net technical provisions 32.9 35.6 108 

F. Creditors 12.4 12.8 103 

 – of which: Creditors arising from reinsurance operations 10.9 10.9 100 

G. Accruals and deferred income 0.4 0.2 56 
* Data used in calculation of indexes expressed in SIT million 
Source: Audited balance sheets of reinsurance industry as of 31 December 2002 and unaudited balance sheets of reinsurance industry as at 31 December 
2003 
 
The growth in the balance sheet total of reinsurance undertakings was lagging 
behind that of insurance undertakings. The growth was chiefly underpinned by 
investments in land and buildings, other investments, investments in enterprises in 
the group and associates, and prepayments and accrued income. All other balance 
sheet items for the reinsurance undertakings remained more or less in the same 
range as in the previous year.  
 
The most noticeable change on the liabilities side is the rise in capital by 19 %, 
mostly as the result of an increase in core capital of SIT 7.8 billion deriving from 
ownership transformation of the reinsurance undertaking, which entered the social 
capital under the core capital. A further contribution to the capital item was made by a 
special equity revaluation adjustment in the amount of SIT 1.4 billion and an increase 
in net technical provisions by 8 %. A considerable decrease occurred under items 
reserves from profit and other net technical provisions. 
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3.5.      Performance Indicators 
 
The table below shows several major performance indicators. 
 
Table 13:  Performance indicators for the insurance and reinsurance industry 
 

Insurance undertakings 
Reinsurance 
undertakings 

  2002 2003 2002 2003 

Net claims incurred against net earned premiums 69% 76% 93% 77% 

Share of operating expenses in premiums written 22% 21% 10% 16 % 
Investment ratio or share of mathematical provisions covered 
by assets* 112% 121% 0% 0% 
Investment ratio or share of other technical provisions covered 
by assets* 104% 110% 100% 108% 

Equity financing rate 15% 15% 25% 27% 

Net return on equity ratio 19% 7% 12% 14% 

Share of net insurance premium in gross premium written 87% 87% 52% 64% 
*Investments include also interest on certain investments and a part of amounts owed for premiums (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 109/2002, application as 
of 14 December 2002).  
Source: St- 43 and ST – 55 Forms, audited balance sheets of insurance and reinsurance industry as of 31 December 2002 and unaudited balance sheets of 
insurance and reinsurance industry as of 31 December 2003; audited income statements of insurance and reinsurance undertakings for 2002 and unaudited 
income statements of insurance and reinsurance undertakings for 2003. 

 
The ratio of net claims incurred against net insurance premiums earned for insurance 
undertakings deteriorated in comparison with the previous year, mostly on account of 
non-life insurance. Reinsurance undertakings show quite the reverse situation – the 
ratio improved.  
 
The share of operating expenses in premiums written in the insurance undertakings 
fell as compared to 2002. Again, the situation is completely different in reinsurance 
undertakings, where operating expenses rose much faster than premiums written.  
 
The investment ratio, or share of technical provisions covered by assets, shows the 
value of financial investments from provisions against provisions set aside. The share 
of technical provisions covered by assets must be at least 100 %. In 2003, the 
investment ratio of mathematical provisions was 121 % (it went up by nine 
percentage points in comparison with 2002); and the investment ratio, or share of 
other technical provisions covered by assets, for insurance undertakings was 110 %, 
which shows that the coverage of technical provisions by assets is quickly improving. 
This is to a certain extent also due to the fact that the Agency eased up the 
conditions and allowed inclusion of interest on certain investments and a part of 
amounts owed for premiums to attain the adequate coverage of technical provisions 
by assets. The above-mentioned ratio for reinsurance undertakings in 2003 was 108 
% (8 percentage points better than in 2002).  
 
The share of capital shows the share of own capital participation in the overall 
financing. For insurance undertakings it remained at roughly the same level (15 %), 
while for reinsurance undertakings it slightly improved (from 25 % in 2002 to 27 % in 
2003).  
 
The net equity ratio is calculated as the ratio between the net profit and the average 
capital. The lower value of this indicator for insurance undertakings was the result of 
higher capital and lower net profit in 2003. However, the indicator went up for 
reinsurance undertakings.  
  
The share of net insurance premium in gross premium written (i.e. the retention level) 
for insurance undertakings remained unchanged (87 %), but for reinsurance 
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undertakings increased from 52 % in 2002 to 64 % in 2003. This implies that the 
share of retrocession in reinsurance undertakings diminished as compared to 2002, 
which is a sign of the growing capital strength of Slovenian reinsurance undertakings.    
 
3.6.   Technical Provisions 
 
Technical provisions are set aside by insurance and reinsurance undertakings in 
compliance with the Decision on detailed rules and minimum standards relating to 
the calculation of technical provisions (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 3/01 and 
69/01).  
 
Figure 4:  Structure of net technical provisions of the insurance undertakings in 

the period 1999-2003 (SIT billion as at 31 December) 
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Figure 5:  Structure of net technical provisions of the reinsurance undertakings in 

the period 1999-2003 (SIT billion as at 31 December) 
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As at 31 December 2003, the aggregate amount of technical provisions set aside by 
insurance undertakings was SIT 399.6 billion, which was 29 % more than in the 
previous year. The technical provisions created by reinsurance undertakings 
amounted to SIT 35.6 billion, which is an 8 % increase over the previous year.  
 
Insurance and reinsurance undertakings, as a rule, set aside the provisions for 
unearned premiums separately for each insurance contract, except where the loss 
occurrence pattern varies over the duration of the contract or the insurance cover 
changes over the duration of the contract. These provisions for unearned premiums 
are reduced by acquisition costs. In comparison with the previous year, the 
provisions for unearned premiums set aside by insurance undertakings increased by 
26 % and those set aside by reinsurance undertaking by 13 %.  
  
The mathematical provisions are set aside in the amount of the present assessed 
value of future obligations of the insurance undertaking arising from insurance 
contracts reduced by the present assessed value of future premiums to be paid on 
the basis of those contracts. The net mathematical provisions of insurance 
undertakings underwriting life assurance policies in 2003 went up by 21 % year-on-
year. The reinsurance undertakings did not set aside life assurance provisions.  
 
Provisions for claims outstanding are set aside by insurance and reinsurance 
undertakings for reported and unsettled claims – which are in principle calculated 
separately for each claim – and for incurred but not yet reported claims or not fully 
reported claims. The amount of provisions for claims incurred but not reported or not 
fully reported claims is determined on the basis of past experience, i.e. the number of 
claims and the average credited compensation arising from claims reported in the 
accounting year, and the future development as can reasonably be foreseen. The 
claims outstanding include, in addition to the estimated compensations, also the 
estimated claim settlement costs. In 2003, the amount of net provisions for claims 
outstanding set aside by insurance undertakings increased by 37 % against the 
previous year, and of those set aside by reinsurance undertakings by 14 %.  
 
The net provisions for bonuses and rebates reserved by insurance undertakings rose 
by 13 % against the previous year, and of those reserved by reinsurance 
undertakings by 75 %. 
 
The equalisation provisions in the aggregate decreased from SIT 28.4 billion in 2001 
to SIT 22.4 billion in 2002, however, in 2003 they again swelled to SIT 29.7 billion, as 
the consequence of amendments to the existing law.    
 
As at 31 December 2003, net technical provisions for the benefit of life-assurance 
policyholders who bear the investment risk amounted to SIT 3.8 billion. Up to 2003, 
the amount of those provisions was negligible (in 2002 they totalled a meagre SIT 
211 million), but on the other hand also the number of contracts for life assurance 
where the investment risk is borne by the policyholder was not significant. 
 
Net other technical provisions are allocated by insurance and reinsurance 
undertakings with regard to the anticipated future obligations and risks of major 
damages arising from insurance covering nuclear damage liability and manufacturers 
of medicaments and medical aids’ liability, earthquake as well as other obligations 
and risks. The net other technical provisions created by insurance undertakings in 
2003 increased by 60 %, while those set aside by reinsurance undertakings 
diminished by 15 %. 
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In the majority of reports of the appointed actuaries, their positive opinion on 
allocated technical provisions was expressed. In two cases the appointed actuary 
warned the management of the insurance undertaking that the insurance premiums 
and income in certain classes of insurance were insufficient to cover the liabilities 
under the insurance contracts.  
 
3.7.   Investments of Assets covering Technical Provisions and Assets 

covering Mathematical Provisions 
 
In recent years the financial investments of insurance undertakings have been 
showing flourishing growth rates. As at 31 December 2003, investments of insurance 
undertakings’ assets covering technical provisions – a part of which are also 
investments of assets covering mathematical provisions to be formed by insurance 
undertakings pursuant to the relevant regulations – amounted to SIT 442.8 billion. 
This means that the investments of technical provisions grew by SIT 33.3 billion or 18 
%, which was substantially more than the growth of the insurance premium written in 
the same period.  
 
Table 14:  Investments of the insurance undertakings in the period 1996-2003 

(SIT billion as at 31 December) 

 

  1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 
Index 
03/96* 

Own free resources 5.7 4.2 5.4 13.3 11.4 16.9 24.3 28.8**  507 
Assets covering 
mathematical provisions 24.6 35.0 48.3 67.0 91.0 123.8 168.8 221.9 903 
Assets covering technical 
provisions without assets 
covering mathematical 
provisions 42.3 57.0 72.4 88.0 107.1 128.0 187.5 220.8 521 

Total 72.6    96.2 126.0 168.4 209.5 268.7 380.6 471.6 609 
* Data used in calculation of indexes expressed in  SIT million  
** The Agency has not received  all data on investments of free resources in 2003 from all insurance undertakings, and therefore only an estimated value of 
own resources for 2003 is included 
Source: Report on assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and RN Forms  
 
In the structure of investments by financial sources, the highest increase since 1996 
has been recorded in investments of assets covering mathematical provisions which, 
with SIT 221.9 billion as at 31 December 2003 already represented as much as 50 % 
of all investments of assets covering technical provisions; in comparison with the 
previous year they increased by SIT 53.1 billion. 
 
Table 15:  Investments of the reinsurance undertakings in the period 1996-2003 

(SIT billion as at 31 December) 

 

  1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 
Index 
03/96* 

Own free resources 0.6 1.0 3.6 6.9 9.4 9.3 12.5 14.7** 2676 
Assets covering 
technical provisions 
without assets covering 
mathematical provisions 20.2 24.0 25.0 24.2 25.9 29.2 31.3 38.4 190 

Total 20.8 25.1 28.6 31.1 35.3 38.5 43.9 53.1 185 
* Data used in calculation of indexes expressed in SIT million  
** The Agency has not received  all data on investments of free resources in 2003 from all reinsurance undertakings, and therefore only an estimated value 
of own resources for 2003 is included 
Source: Report on assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and RN Forms  
 
Reinsurance undertakings show lower growth rates of investments than insurance 
undertakings. As at 31 December 2003, the investments of technical provisions 
created by reinsurance undertakings amounted to SIT 38.4 billion – a rise of SIT 7 
billion or 23 % over the previous year. 
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Table 16:  Investment structure of assets covering mathematical provisions, and 
assets covering technical provisions in the period 1999-2003 (SIT billion as 

at 31 December) 
 

 Assets covering mathematical provisions Assets covering technical provisions 

  1999 %* 2001 %* 2003 %* 1999 %* 2001 %* 2003 %* 
Government 
securities** 31.3 46.7 54.3 43.9 120.6 54.3 16.9 19.3 25.5 20.0 63.8 28.9 

Real estate 1.9 2.9 1.6 1.3 0.5 0.2 8.1 9.2 10.2 8.0 11.7 5.3 

Loans 0.3 0.4 0.5 0.4 0.2 0.1 11.7 13.3 10.6 8.3 10.5 4.7 

Debt securities 7.9 11.8 30.9 24.9 53.6 24.2 5.8 6.6 15.9 12.4 34.4 15.6 

Equity securities 2.3 3.4 6.4 5.2 12.8 5.8 8.1 9.1 20.0 15.6 29.8 13.5 

Bank deposits 23.2 34.7 29.4 23.8 29.8 13.4 36.8 41.9 41.9 32.7 47.2 21.4 

Other 0.1 0.1 0.8 0.6 4.6 2.0 0.6 0.6 3.8 3.0 23.5 10.6 

Total 67.0 100 123.8 100 221.9 100 88.0 100 128.0 100 220.8 100 
* Data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million 
**Government securities and securities with government guarantee (1998-2000, Government securities and loans with government guarantee) 
Source: Report on assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and RN Forms  
 
Assets covering technical provisions were invested primarily in government securities 
(28.9 %) and bank deposits (21.4 %). Also investments in equity and debt securities, 
which in 2003 represented already 29.1 % of all investments of assets covering 
technical provisions of insurance undertakings, have been on a steady rise. 
 
In the structure of assets covering mathematical provisions there are still prevailing 
investments in government securities (54.3 %), investments in other debt securities 
(24.2 %), bank deposits (13.4 %) and equity securities (5.8 %). 
 
Investments of the insurance sector as a whole are mainly bank equity and debt 
securities and bank deposits. Such an investment policy of insurance undertakings 
reflects also the integration process of bank and insurance undertakings, which 
importantly influences the ownership mix of domestic financial institutions and their 
exposure.  
 
Figure 6:  Investment structure of assets covering technical provisions of 

reinsurance undertakings in the period 1999-2003  
(SIT billion as at 31 December) 
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The value of investments of assets covering technical provisions of reinsurance 
undertakings at the end of 2003 over 2002 increased by SIT 7.1 billion or 23 %. 
Assets covering technical provisions were invested mainly in government securities 
and government guaranteed securities (53.1 %), in the form of bank deposits (24.5 
%) and in debt securities (12.4 %).  
 
The share of assets covering technical provisions without assets covering 
mathematical provisions invested in the form of bank deposits and loans in the 
reference period has been falling, while on the other hand investments in debt 
securities and equity securities are on the rise. This shift in investment dynamics 
brings investments of domestic insurance undertakings closer to the EU average, 
where insurance undertakings have the major part of their assets invested in debt 
and equity securities. Since the domestic capital market does not permit any 
substantial expansion of such investments, domestic insurance undertakings should 
seek access to the foreign markets. 
 
Table 17:  Investment structure of assets covering technical provisions, and 

assets covering mathematical provisions in the period 2001-2003  
(SIT billion as at 31 December) 

 

  

Governm
ent 

securities 
Debt 

securities 
Equity 

securities 
Bank 

deposits 

Total 
investme

nts 
abroad 

Total 
investment

s 

Share of 
investme

nts 
abroad in 

total 
investme

nts*** 

2001   0.5 1.0 0.5 2.0 128.0 1.56 

2002   1.3 1.3 0.6 3.1 187.5 1.68 

Assets 
covering 
technical 
provisions 2003   2.2 0.9   3.2 220.8 1.44 

2001   5.3 0.1   5.4 123.8 4.34 

2002 0.7 11.2 0.1*   12.0 168.8 7.08 

Assets 
covering 
mathematic
al 
provisions 2003 1.7 20.0 2.1**   23.8 221.9 10.74 

* Of these SIT 23 million in investment coupons of mutual funds, which invest in securities 
** Of these SIT 2.062 million  in investment coupons of mutual funds which invest in securities 
*** Data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million   
Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions 
 
Thus, at the end of 2003, investments in foreign shares and bonds amounted already 
to SIT 27 billion. The major share of investments abroad represent investments of 
assets covering mathematical provisions. They have been on a steady rise for 
several years now and in 2003 amounted to almost 11 % of all investments of assets 
covering mathematical provisions. Of these, investments in foreign debt securities 
represent 37 % of all assets covering mathematical provisions invested by insurance 
undertakings in debt securities, while investments in foreign equity securities make 
17 % of all investments in such securities. To ensure better currency matching of 
assets  and  liabilities, insurance undertakings are active also in the area of 
investments in Eurobonds issued by the Republic of Slovenia; Eurobonds in 
portfolios of insurance undertakings stood at SIT 15.3 billion at the end of 2003. 
Conversely, investments of assets covering technical provisions of reinsurance 
undertakings in foreign markets accounted for less than 1 % in 2003.  
 
Comparing the assets covering technical provisions set aside with the actual 
investments, the investments of assets covering technical provisions up to 2001 
showed a deficit, which partly resulted from the fact that these assets were used to 
finance tangible fixed assets for insurance operations and debtors, and partly from 
value adjustments on investments, write-offs or unsettled losses. For the first time, in 
2002, technical provisions were sufficiently covered by investments of assets 
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covering technical provisions; the situation further improved in 2003, primarily due to 
relaxation of requirements and allowing the insurance undertakings to include, in 
addition to investments themselves, also amounts owed by policyholders under non-
life insurance with maturity in up to 30 days and receivables from interest on 
investments in bonds and other debt securities and in bank deposits. This is 
summarised in the table below.  
 
Table 18:  Comparison of other technical provisions and actual investments of 

assets covering technical provisions other than mathematical 
provisions for insurance and reinsurance undertakings in the period 
1996-2003 (SIT billion) 

 

  1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 

Investments of assets 
covering TP 62.6 81.0 97.4 112.2 133.0 157.1 

198.0; of 
these: 
20.8* 

233.2; of 
these: 
26.0* 

Resources of TP 91.8 105.7 124.0 139.8 163.8 192.1 215.0 235.4 

Difference -29.2 -24.6 -26.7 -27.6 -30.8 -35.0 3.8 23.8 
*Interest on investments + amounts owed by policyholders with maturity in up to 30 days (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 109/2002, application as of 14 
December 2002)  
Source: St-43 and St-55 Forms, RN Forms, Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions, 
and audited balance sheets of the insurance and reinsurance undertakings as at 31 December 1996 - 31 December 2002, and unaudited balance sheets of 
the insurance and reinsurance industry as at 31 December 2003 
 
The insurance undertakings mainly succeeded in consolidating the amount of 
technical provisions with actual investments in 2002, and in 2003 their coverage 
further improved. The share of mathematical provisions covered with assets covering 
mathematical provisions in 2002 was 112 % and in 2003 already 121 %, while the 
share of other technical provisions covered with assets covering technical provision 
other than assets covering mathematical provisions reached 102 % and 110 %, 
respectively. 
 
3. 8.  Capital Adequacy 
 
The principle of risk management is one of the most important principles stipulated in 
the IA. Provided that adequate technical provisions are ensured – and also 
appropriate investment, reinsurance, co-insurance and liquidity management of these 
assets – insurance undertakings control their risk exposure primarily by ensuring 
sufficient capital, i.e. capital adequacy (the minimum capital and the guarantee fund). 
In accordance with the criteria laid down in the IA, the capital adequacy is ensured if 
the insurance undertaking at any point in time disposes of adequate capital with 
regard to both the volume and type of insurance operations performed and the risks 
to which it is exposed in performing those operations. The capital adequacy is 
calculated by applying the methodology set out in the IA and the implementing 
regulations adopted on the basis thereof. The capital adequacy of insurance 
undertakings is established and disclosed on prescribed forms (self-assessment of 
capital adequacy).  
 
Insurance undertakings are obliged to calculate their capital adequacy and to submit 
the completed forms to the Insurance Supervision Agency as part of quarterly or 
annual statements.  
 
Insurance undertakings are obliged at any time to establish and demonstrate their 
capital adequacy. If the insurance undertaking's capital fails to achieve the minimum 
capital referred to in Articles 110 and/or 111 of the IA on account of increased capital 
requirements or other causes, the board of directors of the insurance undertaking 
must immediately adopt the measures for ensuring minimum capital within its 
responsibility or else propose measures within the responsibility of other bodies of 
the insurance undertaking. Non-compliance with the minimum capital requirement 
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constitutes a serious violation  of risk management rules. If the board of directors of 
the insurance undertaking does not adopt the required measures, the Agency orders 
the board of directors or supervisory board to eliminate the established violations. 
 
As at 31 December 2002, three out of eleven insurance undertakings and one out of 
six pension companies posted a deficit of available capital. One insurance 
undertaking eliminated the deficit by means of an increase in the capital stock. The 
remaining two showed an actual deficit of available capital. One of them succeeded 
to again establish its capital adequacy in the last quarter of 2003 by transferring the 
whole life insurance portfolio to another insurance undertaking. The second 
insurance undertaking showed a deficit also as at 31 December 2003. Therefore, as 
at 31 December 2003, eleven insurance undertakings out of twelve, as well as both 
reinsurance undertakings and all four pension companies posted a surplus of 
available capital.  
 
Obviously the capital adequacy of the entire insurance sector has been improving, as 
is demonstrated by the figure below: 
 
Figure 7:  Surplus of available capital in calculating the capital adequacy of 

insurance and reinsurance undertakings (SIT billion) 
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As regards the core capital requirement, improvement of capital adequacy has been 
boosted by paid-in initial capital for a new insurance undertaking as well as by 
increasing the capital stock in three insurance undertakings. Three insurance 
undertakings increased their reserves, while the mutual insurance company 
increased its contingency reserves. The capital adequacy improved also on account 
of profits brought forward and reduction of loss brought forward. 
 
Under  additional capital, improvement of the capital adequacy was mainly the result 
of the issue of subordinated bonds by two insurance undertakings(2).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
(2) The additional capital comprises items of share capital and capital surplus paid on the basis of cumulative 
preferred shares, subordinated debt instruments and the like. 
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4. PENSION COMPANIES 
 
4.1.  Structure of the Insurance Market with respect to Shares held by 

Pension Companies 
 
According to the PIIA-1, a pension company is a legal entity with its registered office 
in the Republic of Slovenia which has been granted an authorisation to provide 
voluntary supplementary insurance services. Nevertheless, the provisions of the law 
regulating insurance apply to pension companies organised only as public limited 
companies, unless otherwise provided in the PIIA-1. The authorisation for provision 
of voluntary supplementary insurance services is granted by the Agency on the basis 
of the positive opinion of the minister responsible for labour. 
 
At the end of 2003, four pension companies were granted authorisation to perform 
voluntary supplementary pension insurance operations. Since by 1 January 2003 two 
pension companies did not comply with the minimum number of 15,000 insured 
persons requirement, the Agency issued the authorisation to transfer all contracts on 
voluntary supplementary pension insurance to another two pension companies. As a 
result, the authorisations of the non-compliant pension companies to perform pension 
insurance ceased to have effect, as stipulated in the IA. Of four pension companies, 
two have also been granted the authorisation for outsourced operations. Two 
pension companies have obtained the authorisation to transfer the management of 
assets covering mathematical provisions to one of the banks. One pension company 
has been granted the authorisation for transfer of payment of pension annuities. 
 
Table 19:  Gross insurance premiums written, number of insured person and 

market shares of pension companies in 2002 and 2003  
 

Pension Company 

Premiums 
in 2002  

(SIT 
billion)  %* 

Number 
of insured 
persons 

2002 % 

Premiums 
in 2003 

(SIT 
billion) %* 

Number 
of insured 
persons 

2003 % 
Moja naložba Pension 
Company 0.9 9.5 14,542 14.0 1.6 12.0 17,347 13.3 

Prva Pension Company. 1.5 16.0 22,585 21.8 2.7 20.0 35,796 27.4 

Skupna Pension Company 3.7 39.4 33,471 32.2 5.2 38.8 44,770 34.3 

SKB Pension Company 0.3 2.9 2,082 2.0     

A Pension Company 2.7 29.0 26,500 25.5 3.9 29.2 32,789 25.1 
Druga penzija Pension 
Company 0.3 3.2 4,625 4.5     

TOTAL 9.4 100 103,805 100 13.5 100 130,702 100 
* Data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million 
Source: St-50 and St-19 Forms  
 
In 2003, pension companies collected gross insurance premiums in the amount of 
SIT 13.5 billion, which means a jump of SIT 4.1 billion or 44 %. In terms of market 
share, there was no substantial change in comparison with the previous year. The 
combined market share of the three largest companies was 88 %.  
 
As of 31 December 2003, pension companies concluded contracts with 130,702 
persons. By the number of the insured, the largest share is held by the same three 
pension companies which hold the leading position also as regards the shares of 
insurance premium written.  
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4.2.     Performance of Pension Companies 
 
The review of performance in 2003 covers unaudited income statements of two 
pension companies, and audited income statements of another two pension 
companies. Pension companies have prepared their income statements on the basis 
of the implementing regulations issued by the Agency and the Slovenian Accounting 
Standards. All these data are detailed below in tabular form. 
 
Table 20:  Summary income statement of pension companies for 2002 and 2003 

(SIT million) 
 

  
B. INCOME STATEMENT FROM LIFE INSURANCE 

2002 2003 

I. Net earned premiums 9,407 13,430 

II. Investment income 1,428 2,651 

IV. Other net income from insurance operations 307 661 

V. Net claims incurred 1 16 

VI. Changes in other net technical provisions  (+/-) 9,808 14,535 

VIII. Net operating expenses 1,312 1,077 

IX. Investment expenses 184 433 

XI. Other net insurance expenses 450 691 

XII. 
Allocated investment return transferred to the income statement from ordinary 
activities (-) 545 785 

XIII. Profit or loss from life assurance  (I+II+IV-V+/-VI-VIII-IX-X-XI-XII) -1,158 -795 

  Č. INCOME STATEMENT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES   

II. Profit or loss from life assurance (B.XIII) -1,158 -795 

V. 
Allocated investment return transferred from the investment statement from life 
insurance (B.XII) 545 785 

IX. Other income from ordinary activities 6 1 

X. Other expenses from ordinary activities 7 1 

XI. Income tax on ordinary activities 1 11 

XII. Net profit or loss from ordinary activities (Č.II + Č.V + Č.IX – Č.X – Č.XI) -614 -21 

  D. INCOME STATEMENT FROM EXTRAORDINARY OPERATIONS   

I. Extraordinary income 5 8 

II. Extraordinary expenses 1 1 

III. Profit or loss from extraordinary activities 3 7 

  G. NET PROFIT OR NET LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR (Č.XII+D.III) -611 -14 
Source: Audited income statements of pension companies for 2002 and unaudited income statements of pension companies for 2003 
 
In 2003, pension companies generated a loss of SIT 14 million, which was 
substantially lower than in the previous year. Only one pension company showed red 
figures at the end of the year. This improvement in the performance of pension 
companies should be attributed to growth of income from insurance commissions by 
42 %, and a simultaneous decrease in net operating expenses by 18 % and labour 
costs by 15 % as a direct effect of the winding up of two pension companies. The 
reason for the red figures should be sought in the persisting imbalance between the 
net operating expenses and income from insurance commissions and reimbursement 
of enrolment and withdrawal costs to which the pension companies are entitled, as 
well as in too small insurance portfolios. All pension companies recorded a negative 
technical account, of which three pension companies covered the loss in the 
technical part from the investment return. 
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4.3.     Balance Sheets 
 
In 2003, pension companies increased the balance sheet total by SIT 14.8 billion or 
89 %. The most vigorous growth on the assets side was seen in other investments, 
investments in enterprises in the group and associates, and prepayments and 
accrued income. On the liabilities side, net technical provisions posted a rise of 112 
%, while the total capital reduced in nominal terms due to the operating loss.   
 
Table 21:  Summary balance sheet of pension companies as at 31 December 2002 

and 31 December 2003 (SIT million) 
 

  2002 2003 Index 
03/02 

  ASSETS 16,651 31,409 189 

A. Intangible assets 152 138 91 
B. Investments in land and buildings and other investments 11,451 30,013 262 

 – Of which: Other investments 9,980 27,651 277 

C. 
Investments for the benefit of life-assurance policyholders 
who bear the investment risk 4,515 0 0 

Č. Debtors 65 112 172 

D. Diverse assets 147 129 88 

E. Prepayments and accrued income 321 1,017 317 
  LIABILITIES 16,651 31,409 189 

A. Capital; of which: 2,920 3,440 118 

 – Called-up capital: 3,875 3,508 91 

 – Capital surplus (capital reserves) 96 429 447 

B. Subordinated liabilities 0 0 / 

C. Net mathematical provisions 13,065 27,693 212 

D. Provisions for other risks and charges 24 35 146 

F. Creditors 523 211 40 

G. Accruals and deferred income 109 30 28 
Source: Audited balance sheets of pension companies as of 31 December 2002 and unaudited balance sheets of pension companies as at 31 December 
2003 

 
4.4.     Performance Indicators 
 
The major performance indicators are summarised in the table below: 
 
Table 22:  Performance indicators of pension companies for 2002 and 2003 
 
INDICATOR 2002 2003 
Share of operating expenses in premiums written 14%  8% 

Investment ratio or share of mathematical provisions covered by assets 101%  101% 

Share of capital in financing 18% 11% 

Net return on equity  -21% -4% 

Share of net insurance premium in gross premium written 100% 100% 
*+ interest on investment (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 109/2002, application as of 14 December 2002).  
Source: St-55 Form,  audited and unadited income statements, audited and unaudited balance sheets, Report on investments of assets covering technical 
provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions 
 
The indicator of all operating expenses, expressing the value of all operating 
expenses against the gross insurance premiums written, improved because of the 
substantial growth of premiums. 
 
The investment ratio, or share of technical provisions covered by assets, remained 
within the range of the previous year. 
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The share of capital in financing, showing the share of own capital participation in the 
overall financing, i.e. in all liabilities, diminished against the previous year due to the 
increase in mathematical provisions. 
 
The return on capital ratio was negative, however, because of lower losses and an 
increase in the capital stock, an upward trend can be observed. 
 
In 2003, the share of net insurance premiums in the gross premiums written for 
pension premium was 100 %. Pension companies are not obliged to reinsure the 
assets collected as savings. 
 
4.5.     Mathematical Provisions 
 
As at 31 December 2003, mathematical provisions set aside by pension companies 
amounted to SIT 27.7 billion, which is as much as a 112 % rise year-on-year. The 
amount of net mathematical provisions is equal to gross mathematical provisions, 
since the mathematical provisions are not reinsured. 
 
Pension companies set aside mathematical provisions as provided for in the pension 
scheme. During the saving period the mathematical provisions are calculated as the 
accumulated paid-in premiums.  
 
Pension companies as at 31 December 2003 did not set aside the mathematical 
provisions for the supplementary invalidity insurance or for supplementary survivor’s 
pension insurance which they may offer under the pension schemes in the saving 
period in accordance with the PIIA-1. In addition, pension companies have not yet 
started to set aside mathematical provisions for payments of annuities. 
 
4.6.     Investments 
 
As at 31 December 2003, investments of assets covering mathematical provisions of 
pension companies amounted to SIT 27.8 billion. The investment structure shows 
that investments in government securities and securities with government guarantee 
are still prevailing. However, in comparison with the previous year, also an upward 
trend in other debt and equity securities can be observed. The share of investments 
in bank deposits lowered from 26 % in 2002 to 21 % in 2003. 
 
Figure 8:  Investment structure of assets covering mathematical provisions of 

pension companies as at 31 December 2002 and 31 December 2003  
(SIT billion) 
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Also the investment structure of pension companies shows an increasing share of 
investments in foreign markets. In 2003, investments in foreign equity and debt 
securities amounted to a good SIT 2 billion, which was almost 8 % of all investments 
of assets covering mathematical provisions of pension companies. Of these, 
investments in foreign debt securities represented 32 % of all investments in debt 
securities, while investments in foreign equity securities represented 29 %  of all 
investments in such securities.  
 
Table 23:  Investment structure of assets covering technical provisions, and 

assets covering mathematical provisions of pension companies in 
foreign markets in the period 2002-2003 (SIT billion as at 31 December) 

 

  

Governm
ent 

securities 
Debt 

securities 
Equity 

securities 

Total 
investm

ents 
abroad 

Total 
investme

nts 

Share of 
investment
s abroad in 

total 
investment

s*** 

2002 0 0.6 0.2* 0.8 13.1 6.39 Assets 
covering 
mathemat
ical 
provisions 2003 0 1.8 0.3** 2.2 27.8 7.87 

* Of these SIT 29 million in shares of investment companies investing in securities 
** Of these SIT 63 million in shares of investment companies investing in securities 
*** Data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million   
Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions 
 
4.7.    Capital Adequacy 
 
As at 31 December 2003, all pension companies met the capital requirement and 
significantly improved their capital adequacy as compared to 2002. 
 
Table 24:  Capital adequacy of pension companies as at 31 December 2002 and 31 

December 2003 (SIT billion) 
 

CAPITAL 2002 2003 

Core capital 2.7 3.2 

Guarantee fund 1.9 1.3 

Compliance with Article 106 (3) of the IA 0.8 1.9 

Additional capital 0 0 

Available capital of the pension company 2.5 3.0 

Required minimum capital 1.9 1.4 

Capital adequacy 0.6 1.6 
Source: KUS Form  
 
 
5. OTHER COMPANIES PERFORMING INSURANCE OPERATIONS 
 
In line with the provisions of the IA, the Insurance Supervision Agency also 
supervises the Slovene Export Corporation, established pursuant to the Slovene 
Export Finance and Insurance Company Act – in the part relating to credit insurance 
operations for its own account, the Supplementary Pension Insurance Fund (the First 
Pension Fund), established pursuant to the Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act 
(PIIA-1), the insurance and reinsurance pools, and the Slovene Insurance 
Association – Indemnity Fund. 
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Table 25:  Gross insurance premium written by other companies performing 
insurance operations in 2002 and 2003 (SIT billion) 

 
Insurance class 2002 2003 

Slovene Export Corporation (credit insurance) 1.0 1.3 
First Pension Fund (life assurance linked to investment fund units) 0 0 
Nuclear Pool GIZ (fire and natural forces insurance) 0.2 0.2 
Slovene Insurance Association – Indemnity Fund 0.7 1.1 

Source: St-50 Form  
 
The principal activities of the Slovene Export Corporation include insurance against 
short-term commercial risks (short-term export and domestic credits), export 
financing, issuing of guarantees, insurance of medium-term export credits against 
commercial risks, insurance of investments abroad against political risks, and 
factoring. The interest of the Slovenian companies in these services has been 
steadily growing – they make use of these services more and more frequently, but 
also the volume of business covered is growing. From among risk management 
measures, the majority of the Slovenian exporters gives special priority to credit 
insurance.  
 
The First Pension Fund is managed by the Pension Fund Management Company on 
behalf and for the account of the insured persons with the objective of covering its 
obligations to the insured. These obligations derive from supplementary pension 
insurance policies and they relate to payments of pension annuities or the insured 
sum, respectively, when the policyholder has died prior to acquisition of the right to 
pension annuities. Premium for the pension annuity was ensured by exchange of 
pension coupons for insurance policies.  
 
The pool for insurance and reinsurance of nuclear risks (Nuclear pool) carries on its 
business on the basis of the authorisation issued by the Ministry of Finance. The 
priority of the Nuclear pool is insurance, co-insurance and reinsurance against 
nuclear risks in connection with the nuclear facilities or use of nuclear energy for 
peaceful purposes in the country as well as from abroad. Nine insurance 
undertakings and both reinsurance undertakings are the members of the pool.  
 
The Slovene Insurance Association – Indemnity Fund, made up from contributions of 
all insurance undertakings underwriting motor vehicle liability insurance, provides 
compensation for the damages caused by drivers of unknown and non-insured motor 
vehicles, aircraft and ships and boats. 
 
 
6. CONCLUSION 
 
The insurance industry as a whole showed good operating results in 2003, although 
they somewhat deteriorated in comparison with the previous year. The insurance 
undertakings posted an aggregate net profit of SIT 5 billion. Only five insurance 
undertakings showed negative net result. A positive technical account was achieved 
in all three basic types of insurance, i.e. life, health and non-life (other than health). 
However, the technical accounts figures for all three insurance groups were not so 
promising as in the previous year, since the growth of net claims incurred outpaced 
that of net earned insurance premiums.  
 
On the other hand, the capital adequacy markedly improved in 2003. Increased 
additional capital, increased subscribed capital and favourable operating results in 
the last two years are the main factors having triggered this significant improvement 
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in the capital adequacy. Only one insurance undertaking reported capital inadequacy 
at the end of year. 
 
In recent years, financial investments of insurance undertakings show flourishing 
growth rates. In the investment structure by financial sources, the highest increase 
has been recorded in investments of mathematical provisions (long-term insurance). 
Also the dynamics of investments of assets covering technical provisions created to 
cover the non-life insurance liabilities has been satisfactory. The positive 
developments in the share of technical provisions being covered by assets covering 
technical provisions in 2003 have been boosted by favourable results of insurance 
undertakings – as well as increases in capital – in 2002 and 2003; this means that 
insurance undertakings are increasingly more financially stable and solvent. The 
share of assets covering technical provisions invested in the form of bank deposits 
and loans has been falling, while on the other hand investments in debt as well as 
equity securities have been growing, which of course requires even more equity 
capital or its surplus over the statutory minimum. Due to limited investment 
opportunities in the domestic financial market, insurance undertakings are seeking 
opportunities for investments abroad, and at the end of 2003 the investments in 
foreign shares and bonds amounted already to SIT 27 billion. 
 
The two reinsurance undertakings also recorded better business results than in the 
previous year, showing a net operating result of SIT 2.3 billion. Such a result can be 
attributed in particular to a relatively high growth in net premiums earned, and the 
concurrent decrease in net claims incurred. 
 
Pension companies improved their operating results, but still made a loss in the 
amount of SIT 14 million in 2003. Up to 1 January 2003, two pension companies 
failed to meet the prescribed number of 15,000 insured persons, and consequently, 
the Agency required transfer of all contracts on voluntary supplementary pension 
insurance to another pension scheme provider. According to the IA, their 
authorisation to perform pension insurance granted to those two pension companies 
ceased to have effect. Pension companies increased their volume of operations, 
while on the other hand net operating expenses and labour cost decreased as a 
direct consequence of the winding up of two pension companies. The mathematical 
provisions increased by 112 % year-on-year. As at 31 December 2003, all pension 
companies met the capital adequacy requirements.  
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II. ANNUAL REPORT 2003 OF THE INSURANCE 
SUPERVISION AGENCY   

 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
The Insurance Supervision Agency (hereinafter: the Agency) was established 
pursuant to the Insurance Act (hereinafter: the IA) and became operational on 1 June 
2000 when the Government of the Republic of Slovenia appointed its Council of 
Experts and the director. In performance of its functions the Agency has succeeded 
the Office for the Insurance Supervision, established in 1995 to supervise the 
insurance sector, and organised as a body within the Ministry of Finance.  
 
The objective of the Agency as the central supervisory institution in the insurance 
area is protection of policyholders’ interests, mitigating and eliminating irregularities 
in insurance, and hence enhancing its favourable impact on the economy as a whole.  
 
The Agency is a legal person, and as such accountable to the National Assembly. 
 
The bodies of the Agency are the Council of Experts and the director.  
 
The Council of Experts is responsible for adopting decisions with regard to 
authorisations, consents and other individual matters on which, unless otherwise 
stipulated in the IA, decisions are taken by the Agency; for adopting regulations when 
the IA determines that such acts be adopted by the Agency; for adopting general acts 
of the Agency and performing other tasks within the competence of the Agency, 
unless it is stipulated by the IA that another body of the Agency is responsible for 
those tasks. In 2003, the Council of Experts, presided over by Dr. France Križanič, 
held twenty-nine regular meetings, one extraordinary meeting, and one 
correspondence meeting.  
 
The director of the Agency is responsible for managing operations and organising the 
work of the Agency. The director of the Agency is Mr. Jurij Gorišek, M.Sc. 
 
The Agency is organised in three sections: General and legal affairs and international 
co-operation; Actuaries, statistics and informatics; and Analysis and financial control. 
The Analysis and financial control section is further divided into two departments: 
Analysis and Financial Control. 
 
The main responsibility of the Agency is issuing implementing regulations, which 
constitute the legal basis for regulation, control and supervision of the insurance 
market in the Republic of Slovenia, monitoring of the insurance market and granting 
authorisations relevant to the insurance area.  
 
Under Article 262 of the IA, the financing of the Agency is ensured from fees, annual 
fees and lump-sum fees and other income derived by the Agency from its operations. 
In case of a surplus of income over expenses, one portion, in the amount determined 
by the financial plan of the Agency, is allocated to the reserves and the remaining 
surplus is paid into the budget of the Republic of Slovenia.  
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The data included in this report relate mostly to the period from 1 January to the end 
of 2003, except in cases when they relate also to the period before 1 January 2003 
or after the end of 2003, if so required to obtain a more comprehensive picture of 
individual facts or events relating to the Agency’s performance. 
 
 
2.  ORGANISATION AND FINANCING OF THE INSURANCE 

SUPERVISION AGENCY IN 2003 
 
On its establishment in June 2000, the Agency had a staff of eight who were 
transferred to the Agency from the former Office of the Republic of Slovenia for 
Insurance Supervision. From the said date to the year-end 2003, the Agency carried 
out an extensive project of recruiting new experienced staff and setting up the 
appropriate organisational structure.  
 
2.1. Internal Organisation and Number of Employees 
 
In accordance with the Rules on Internal Organisation and Job Systematisation, the 
basic internal organisational units are sections, and each section may consist of one 
or more departments, discharging tasks in a specific area of activities or responsible 
for discharging individual specific tasks.  
 
Table 1:  Internal organisational structure of the Agency and number of employees 

per section as at 31 December 2003 
 

Internal organisational structure Number of 
employees 

Director 1 
Advisor to the Agency* 1 
General and Legal Affairs and International Co-
operation Section 

9 

Actuaries, Statistics and Informatics Section 6 
Analysis and Financial Control Section 11 
Total 28 

* not assigned to any section 
Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency 

 
The activities of the Agency are organised in three sections: 
– General and legal affairs and international co-operation section, 
– Actuaries, statistics and informatics section, 
– Analysis and financial control section. 
 
Table 2:  Job systematisation in the Agency and positions occupied as at 31 

December 2003 
 

Internal organisational structure Number of 
employees 

Director 1 
Assistant director 1 
Advisor to the Agency 6 
Advisor to the Director 11 
Senior Advisor 1 
Advisor I 5 
Advisor II 1 
Accountant 1 
Business administrator 1 
Total 28 

Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency 
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Table 3:  Number of employees per educational level as at 31 December 2003 
 

Education level Number of 
employees 

V – secondary 
education 

1 

VI – higher education 1 
VII – high education 1 
VIII – university 
education 

19 

VIII – masters degree 5 
IX – doctorate 1 
Total 28 

Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency 

 
As at 31 December 2003, the Agency had twenty-eight employees: nineteen with a 
university degree, five with a mater’s degree, one with a PhD degree. Four 
employees have also the licence of a certified actuary.  
 
Table 4:  Number of employees per professional title as at 31 December 2003 
 

Professional title Number of 
employees 

NC in administration 1 
HNC in administration 1 
B. Sc. in Economy (tertiary level) 1 
B.Sc. in Economy  13 
B. Sc. in Mathematics  

1 
Professor of Mathematics 1 
B.A. in Law 4 
M. Sc. 5 
Ph.D. 1 
Total 28 

Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency 

 
2.2. Financing of the Insurance Supervision Agency 
 
Since October 2002, the amended Tariff on fees, annual fees and lump-sum fees  
(Tariff – 1) has been in force (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 89/02), adopted by the 
Council of Experts of the Agency in June 2002 and approved by the Government of 
the Republic of Slovenia in October 2002. The amended Tariff of October 2002 
provides for lower annual fee rates than the original Tariff. Annual fee rates are now 
set at 0.12 % from the basis (the amount of premiums paid in the previous year) for 
insurance undertakings and pension companies, 0.13 % of the basis (the amount of 
premiums paid in the previous year) for insurance undertakings in an insurance 
group, 0.06 % of the basis (income from insurance agency services or brokerage in 
the previous year) for insurance agencies and insurance brokerage companies, and 
0.12 % of the basis (amount of contributions to the Indemnity Fund) for the Slovenian 
Insurance Association. 
 
 
3. MAIN TASKS OF THE INSURANCE SUPERVISION AGENCY IN 2003 
 
According to the IA, the Agency is responsible for issuing regulations on the basis 
thereof and for supervision of insurance undertakings, insurance agencies and 
insurance brokerage companies, and insurance agents and brokers. The Agency 
also conducts supervision of legal persons related to the insurance undertaking, if 
necessary for the purpose of supervising the insurance undertaking’s operation, as 
well as control of the insurance undertaking within an insurance group, insurance 
holding company and joint-venture insurance holding company. 
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In accordance with Articles 342 and 377 of the Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act 
(PIIA-1) (Official Gazette of the RS Nos. 106/99, 72/00, 81/00 and 52/01, hereinafter: 
PIIA-1), the Agency is also responsible for issuing authorisations to pension 
companies and for supervising their operations. 
 
The Agency also performs supervision of the Nuclear Pool and the Slovene 
Insurance Association – Indemnity Fund.  
 
It also supervises the operation of the Slovene Export Corporation in the part relating 
to credit insurance operations for its own account. Pursuant to Article 17(8) of the 
new Act governing Insurance and Financing of International Commercial 
Transactions (AGIFICT) (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 2/04), replacing the 
Slovenian Export Finance and Insurance Company Act and the Act regulating the 
Guarantee of the Republic of Slovenia for Export Financing Borrowing Requirements, 
the Slovene Export Corporation is obliged to bring its status and activities relating to 
insurance operations for its own account in line with the insurance regulations by 31 
December 2004 at the latest. 
 
In line with the provisions of the IA, the Agency also supervises the Supplementary 
Pension Insurance Fund (the First Pension Fund), established pursuant to the PIIA-1. 
The Fund is managed by the Pension Fund Management on its own behalf and for 
the account of the insured persons – members of the Fund. The legal basis for 
management is the First Pension Fund of the Republic of Slovenia and 
Transformation of Authorised Investment Corporations Act (Official Gazette of the 
RS, Nos. 50/99 and 58/02), which stipulates in its Article 23 that its management is 
subject to supervision by the Agency, whereby the provisions of the IA are applied 
mutatis mutandis.  
  
3.1. Activities in the Field of Legislation 
 
3.1.1. Preparation and Issue of Implementing Regulations and Amendments 

thereof  
 
Article 256 (2) of the IA stipulates that the Agency prepares and adopts regulations 
when the law determines that such act be adopted by the Agency.  
 
To fine-tune some of  the implementing regulations, the Agency adopted a number of 
amendments thereto also in 2003. The Agency amended five implementing 
regulations and two instructions, and issued two new instructions. 
 
In March 2003, the Agency adopted the Decision amending the Decision on the 
detailed method of valuation of accounting items and compiling financial statements 
(Official Gazette of the RS, No. 30/03) and Instructions for calculating the item 
"Specific capital revaluation adjustment in connection with assets not financed from 
technical provisions" on the KUS Form  (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 30/03). 
 
April 2003 brought the new Instructions for calculating the performance indicators 
(Official Gazette of the RS, No. 36/03), which have to be calculated as part of annual 
reports, followed by the Instructions amending the Instruction for calculating the 
performance indicators in December 2003 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 129/03).  
 
In June 2003, the Agency adopted the Decision amending the Decision on the types 
and features of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering 
mathematical provisions, and rules relating to diversification and limiting of 
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placements of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering 
mathematical provisions, as well as the method and time limits for reporting (Official 
Gazette of the RS, No. 78/03)  and the Amendment to the Instructions for preparation 
of reports on assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical 
provisions delivered on electronic media (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 78/03). 
 
Then, in December 2003, the Agency adopted the Decision amending the Decision 
on the annual report of insurance undertakings – SKL2002 (Official Gazette of the 
RS, No. 129/03), Decision amending the Decision on detailed form and minimum 
scope of audit and contents of auditor report (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 129/03), 
and the Decision amending the Decision on reporting the statistical insurance data – 
SKL2002 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 129/03).  
 
3.1.2. Co-operation in Preparation of Amendments to the Insurance Act 
 
On 6 May 2004, the Act amending the Insurance Act (IA-B) was published in the 
Official Gazette of the RS, No. 50, which entered into force the following day after its 
publication.  The Agency actively co-operated in its preparation throughout 2003 and 
in the first months of 2004.  The main reason that prompted its adoption was the final 
alignment with EU directives adopted before and after entering into force of the 
original IA. In preparing amendments to the IA, the Agency followed also the IMF 
recommendations and recommendations of a group of EU experts for the area of 
financial sector supervision, the so-called “Peer Review”, made in the framework of 
individual assessments of the Slovenian insurance sector. The amended IA is also 
harmonised with the new Companies act (CA-F, Official Gazette of the RS, No. 
45/01), the new Public Agencies Act, the amended Criminal Offences Act and the 
Slovenian Accounting Standards. 
 
The most important changes introduced by the IA-B include higher capital 
requirements and the changed method of calculating the capital adequacy of 
individual insurance undertakings and of insurance groups. It also provides for 
extending the activities of insurance undertakings to include also financial operations, 
directly and indirectly related to insurance operations. Other changes relate to the 
area of co-operation with supervisory authorities of other Member States, supervision 
of an insurance group, and regular reporting to the Agency, including amendments of 
rights, status, obligations and decision-making procedures of the Agency.  
 
3.2. Granting of Authorisations and Consents 
 
Six pension companies carried out business on the Slovenian insurance market in 
2002. In conformity with the provisions of Article 337 of the PIIA-1, they were obliged 
to meet the requirement of minimum 15,000 insured persons under the voluntary 
supplementary pension insurance by 31 December 2002. Two pension companies 
had not succeeded in fulfilling this criterion by the end of 2002. Therefore, a decision 
was adopted in June 2003 ordering both pension companies to transfer their 
contracts on supplementary voluntary pension insurance to another two pension 
companies. As a result, according to the IA, their authorisation to perform pension 
insurance ceased to have effect. 
 
In December 2003, the Agency issued three authorisations to perform insurance 
operations  and two authorisations to perform reinsurance operations on the basis of 
Article 353(2) of the IA. In the first five months of 2003, another two insurance 
undertakings, having been granted the authorisation to perform insurance operations, 
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harmonised their operations with the provisions of the IA. The harmonisation 
procedure in the remaining six insurance undertakings has not yet been concluded. 
 
On the basis of Article 65(4) of the IA, the Agency issued one authorisation for 
transferring insurance contracts to another insurance undertaking. 
 
In 2003, one insurance undertaking was granted the authorisation to extend its 
business to health insurance, pursuant to Article 72 (1) of the IA.   
 
Further, the Agency issued a prior opinion to four banks applying for authorisation to 
perform insurance brokerage in compliance with Article 227 (5) of the IA. 
 
In 2003, the Agency issued also 4 authorisations to insurance undertakings and 2 
authorisations to pension companies for outsourced operations on the basis of Article 
65 (5) of the IA. 
 
The Agency issued also 2 authorisations on the basis of Article 18 of the IA for 
acquisition of the qualifying holding in the insurance undertaking and one declaratory 
decision concerning authorisation to acquire the qualifying holding in the insurance 
undertaking. 
 
In 2003, the Agency granted authorisations to one insurance undertaking, one 
reinsurance undertaking and three pension companies in accordance with Article 123 
(2) of the IA which stipulates that the Agency may, with especially well-substantiated 
grounds and at the request of an individual insurance undertaking, allow the latter to 
invest its assets covering technical provisions in contravention of Article 123 (1) of 
the IA. This means that the insurance undertakings with its registered office in the RS 
and covering risks in the RS may invest the assets covering technical provisions also 
abroad.  
 
According to Article 122 (2), which stipulates that the Agency may, with especially 
well-substantiated grounds and at the request of an individual insurance undertaking, 
allow the latter, with regard to individual types of investment, to exceed the set 
restrictions, the Agency issued 2 authorisations to insurance undertakings and 1 
authorisation to a pension company. 
 
Moreover, the Agency granted authorisations to 4 pension companies for 
performance of open-end and close-end pension fund management. 
 
In 2003, the Agency issued 7 authorisations for the board of directors’ members in 
the insurance undertakings, and rejected 4 applications for the authorisation for the 
board of directors’ members. In addition, the Agency issued one declaratory decision 
concerning the authorisation for the board of directors’ members in accordance with 
Article 353 (3) of the Insurance Act. 
 
In December 2003, the Agency organised two exams which have to be passed for 
acquiring the licence of a certified actuary. Those exams were passed by three 
candidates. Otherwise, the Agency  issued 8 licences of a certified actuary in 2003.  
 
Further, in 2003, the Agency granted altogether 898 authorisations to perform 
insurance agency and insurance brokerage services. Of these, 56 authorisations 
were granted to independent entrepreneurs for performance of insurance agency 
services, 1 authorisation to an individual entrepreneur to perform insurance 
brokerage services, 24 authorisations to insurance agency companies, 5 
authorisations to insurance brokerage companies, 784 authorisations to insurance 
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agents and 28 authorisations to insurance brokers. The Agency also refused or 
rejected 46 applications for authorisation to perform insurance brokerage or agency 
services, and 12 applications were withdrawn by applicants during the procedure.  
 
3.3. Conducting the Supervision of Insurance Undertakings 
 
3.3.1. Examination of reports and notifications 
 
Also in 2003, the Agency regularly monitored and analysed the operation of 
insurance and reinsurance companies and pension companies on the basis of 
statistical data, financial statements and other reports which the said companies are 
required to submit to the insurance supervisory authority in conformity with the IA, its 
implementing regulation and other acts. In the course of examination of reports and 
notifications, the Agency verifies the timeliness and correctness of reporting, and 
endeavours to establish any material misstatements through detailed analysis and 
cross-examination.  
 
In case of violations of reporting requirements, the Agency takes the appropriate 
measures, including on-the-spot inspection of the subject of supervision.   
 
3.3.2. Examination of Operations 
 
In 2003, the Agency’s employees performed examinations of operations in 3 
insurance undertakings and started an examination of the third. They also examined 
the operations of 3 pension companies.  
 
With the aim of further improving the inspection practices, the Agency, in the 
framework of the project “Strengthening of the Insurance Supervisory Authority 
(ISA)“, implemented under the Phare technical assistance aid together with the 
English company Pricewaterhouse Coopers, prepared the On-site Inspection 
Manual.  
 
3.3.3. Imposing Measures of Supervision 
 
In 2003, based on examination of operations and regular reports, the Agency 
established violations and issued 21 orders to eliminate violations to thirteen 
insurance undertakings, five pension companies and three insurance brokerage 
companies. It also issued the relevant orders to two insurance undertakings and one 
pension company failing to achieve the capital requirement. The Agency also issued 
orders to eliminate other violations relating to investments of assets covering 
technical or mathematical provisions; incorrect calculation of technical provisions; 
keeping of books of account; breakdown of expenses by cost centres; reporting 
statistical data; and violations of provisions relating to status. The established 
violations included also insurance agent services being performed by persons not 
holding the required authorisation; insurance agents and brokers and insurance 
agency and brokerage companies not being entered in the relevant register; and a 
pension company not holding the authorisation of the Agency for outsourcing. 
 
3.4. Co-operation with Domestic and Foreign Supervisory Authorities 

and institutions 
 
Pursuant to the Code of Practice for co-operation between supervisory authorities, 
the members of the Co-operation Commission, which is composed of the deputy 
governor of the Bank of Slovenia or director of the Department of Banking Operations 
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Supervision of the Bank of Slovenia, director of the Securities Market Agency, and 
director of the Agency for Insurance Supervision, held three meetings in 2003. 
 
In accordance with Article 6 (2) of the Code of Practice laying down that the duty of 
convening and organising meetings and preparing the minutes rotate each year to 
another supervisory body: in 2003, this task was passed from the Insurance 
Supervision Agency to the Bank of Slovenia. 
 
The Agency also co-operates with insurance supervisory or financial control 
authorities from other EU Member States, Croatia, BiH and Macedonia. 
 
Already in 2001, the Agency successfully concluded negotiations for co-financing of 
the project “Slovene Insurance Supervisory Agency – Systems Development” with 
the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD). In the procedure 
for the award of the public contract for the implementation of this project, EBRD 
selected the Irish consulting company Visor. The project is designed to establish the 
relevant databases at the Agency, adequate procedures for processing these data 
and regular electronic reporting of subjects of supervision. A three-month project on 
statistical processing of life policies was completed at the end of 2002. At the end of 
2003, the Agency signed a new contract with the consulting company Visor on 
statistical processing of life policies, and a one-year maintenance contract. The 
objective is to establish the information system to aid electronic reporting and 
automatic monitoring of statistical data in non-life and life insurance. 
 
Also in 2001, preparations were ongoing for another project – Slovenia Voluntary 
Pension Supervision Project. The Agency participated in implementation of the 
project together with the Ministry of Labour, Family and Social Affairs and the 
Securities Market Agency. The project was aimed at strengthening the supervisory 
control over providers of voluntary pension schemes to improve the protection of the 
policyholders. The project was implemented by the United States Department of 
Labour. The implementation of the project started in June 2002 and concluded in 
June 2003.  
 
3.5. Other Activities of the Insurance Supervision Agency 
 
In 2003, the Agency organised the 17th Conference of European Insurance 
Supervisory Authorities, which was held in Ljubljana from 21 – 23 May. The 
conference was attended by 70 representatives from 40 countries and international 
organisations. It was sponsored by OECD, International Association of Insurance 
Supervisors – IAIS and International Insurance Foundation – IIF.  
 
In 2003, the representatives of the Agency attended a number of working meetings, 
professional consultations and conferences, where they also actively participated 
with papers, e.g. at the conference Insurance in Central and Eastern Europe in 
Prague, International Seminar of Insurance Supervisory Authorities in Wrocław and 
Ten days of the Slovenian Insurance in Portorož. 
 
A substantial part of the international co-operation in 2003 was dedicated to 
Slovenia’s accession to the EU. Thus, the director of the Agency as the 
representative of the ten accession states participated at the meeting of the 
Insurance Committee – IC in Brussels with a paper describing the insurance sector 
and the related problem in those countries. Also other representatives of the Agency 
attended several meetings of the Insurance Committee and its sub-committees within 
the European Commission. In May 2003, the Agency was for the first time invited to 
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participate at the plenary session of the Committee of European Insurance and 
Occupational Pension Supervisors (CEIOPS) in Dresden, and at the next one held in 
Athens in October.  
 
Members of the staff of the Agency also attended other seminars and workshops, 
including the seminar of the European Commission on solvency, relating to the 
Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on the activities and 
supervision of institutions for occupational retirement provision in Brussels, a 
IAIS/FSI seminar during the IAIS meeting of committees in Basel, meeting of a 
Solvency, Solvency Assessments and Actuarial Issues Subcommittee in Paris, and 
the meeting on mutual recognition of actuarial qualifications and free employment of 
actuaries in EU Member States “Freedoms and General Purposes Committee” in 
Dublin. 
 
At the invitation of the Insurance Committee, the director of the Agency – in the name 
of 10 accession countries – also attended the regular meeting in the framework of the 
EU – US Regulatory Dialogue in Brussels, discussing the issue of insurance 
regulation and supervision harmonisation.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


